

Wrocław University of Science and Technology

FIELD OF SCIENCE: Natural sciences

DISCIPLINE OF SCIENCE: Mathematics

# DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

## Mathematical Modelling of Investment Portfolio Management Strategies. Theory and Applications within Heston Market Model.

Mr. Jarosław Gruszka, MSc., Eng.

Supervisor: dr hab. Janusz Szwabiński

Keywords: investment portfolio management strategies, discrete time stochastic processes, Heston model, Monte Carlo methods, Bayesian inference, Monte Carlo Markov Chains, particle filtering

WROCŁAW 2023

# Contents

1	Intr	roduction	<b>5</b>
	1.1	History of portfolio management research	5
	1.2	Overview of the content of this work and its goals	8
<b>2</b>	For	mal framework for studying portfolio management	11
	2.1	Fundamental concepts of portfolio dynamics	11
	2.2	Balanced portfolio, time discretisation and self-financing	13
	2.3	Transactions costs and frugal balancing strategies	17
	2.4	Strategies based on trading indicators	22
		2.4.1 MACD trading indicator	22
		2.4.2 RSI trading indicator	30
	2.5	Portfolio performance measures	33
3	Em	pirical results under Heston market model	37
	3.1	Importance of synthetic data and Monte-Carlo-style experiments	37
	3.2	Basic terms assumptions for numerical experiments	38
	3.3	Heston model	38
	3.4	Merton-style jumps	40
	3.5	Model discretisation and simulation	41
	3.6	Numerical experiments and their results	43
		3.6.1 Comparison of balancing strategies	44
		3.6.2 Optimal rebalance period and optimal rebalance coefficient	47
		3.6.3 Impact of cash on portfolio performance	51
		3.6.4 Performance of MACD- and RSI-driven portfolios	55
4	Esti	imation scheme for the Heston model	<b>39</b>
	4.1	Estimation techniques	69
	4.2	Estimation framework	71
		4.2.1 Regular Heston model	71
		4.2.2 Heston model with jumps	87
		4.2.3 Estimation procedure	91
	4.3	Analysis of the estimation results	97
		4.3.1 Exemplary estimation	97
		4.3.2 Important findings	01

<b>5</b>	Rea	l-life data application	105	
	5.1	Using synthetic results for investment decisions	105	
	5.2	Real-data experiment	106	
6	3 Conclusions			
	6.1	Summary of the work	111	
	6.2	Future research	112	

## 1 Introduction

#### **1.1** History of portfolio management research

The interest in selecting and holding investment assets, which we nowadays refer to as building and managing investment portfolio is an old and well know problem in the field of many disciplines including financial mathematics, financial engineering and econometrics. The foundation of the theory of selecting assets for an investment portfolio was laid by an American economist and Nobel Prize winner – Harry Markowitz. In his article from 1952 he postulated that an investor acting rationally should always try to maximise their expected returns and minimise the risk of the entire portfolio, taking into account possible correlations between the assets [1]. The approach presented in the article turned out to be extremely well-received and the strategies described there have been collectively named a Modern Portfolio Theory or MTP in short. The concept introduced by Markowitz was then widely developed and built up. In 1963 William Sharpe devised a very computationally efficient method of analysing available assets and creating a portfolio having desired properties [2] and in 1972 Robert C. Merton published a paper in which he shows how to analytically obtain the "efficient frontier" – a graphical illustration of a set of all portfolios optimal in Markowitz sense [3]. Notable extensions of Markowitz's model were made by Gerald A. Pogue who enhanced the model by taking into consideration transaction costs and short selling [4]. In 1992 Fisher Black and Robert Litterman built their own model based on the one of Markowitz, which did not require to associate assets with specific expected returns (which were difficult to estimate) [5] and in 1991 B.M. Rom and K. Ferguson extended that model even further by addressing the limitations of the original model regarding the distribution of returns and the usage of variance of returns as a measure of investment's risk [6]. What they accomplished is often called a Post Modern Portfolio Theory. More recent research is also still being conducted within the Markowitz framework. In 2013 Woodside-Oriakhi et.al. presented an extensive model of portfolio optimisation and solved the stated problem by mixedinteger quadratic programming [7]. In 2014 Mittal and Mehlawat proposed a model including transaction costs and also solved an associated optimisation problem but by means of real-coded genetic algorithms [8].

There were also numerous publications on the topic of portfolio management where the fast developing theory of fuzzy sets was applied. One of the pioneering works in that field was the one of Hideo Tanaka et.al. from 1998 in which authors presented the first extension of Markovitz's idea to use the fuzzy set theory and exchanging the notion of probability for, what is called, fuzzy probability [9]. Research in the area was later continued by i.a. Christer Carlsson et.al. who were successful in finding an optimal portfolio in Markowitz sense assuming that returns are fuzzy variables (instead of classical random variables) [10]. Also, Yong Fang et.al. introduced the idea changing portfolio composition during portfolio's lifetime within the fuzzy set theory framework [11].

One of the methodologies which is becoming increasingly popular in recent years for studying portfolio management is machine learning. The abundance of financial data and the ease of access to most of it unleashes the great potential of machine learning methods in the field. One of the most promising methods originating from machine learning are deep learning and reinforcement learning. The deep learning methods utilise deep (multi-level) neural networks to effectively create the Markowitz frontier and have hence been cumulatively called the Deep Portfolio Theory [12, 13]. Reinforcement learning, on the other hand, creates an environment in which the program can take certain actions, analyse its results quantitatively in respect to what is called a reward function and adapt the actions taken in order to maximise the reward. The actions can be, for example, allocating cash in several financial assets (hence forming an investment portfolio) and the reward function could be the return form this portfolio after some time. This way of making the algorithms learn how to make investments decisions seems to be effective in many different contexts [14]. However, within both deep learning and reinforcement learning, the number of different approaches and research directions is really immense, hence — there are already books [15] and voluminous series of articles [16, 17] covering the variety of research used there.

Independently of the Markowitz framework, which mostly focuses on optimal selection of assets to the portfolio, the idea of altering an investment portfolio after it's created has also been studied. One of the first researchers who did that was Paul A. Samuelson. In his article from 1969 he was considering the problem of what changes should be done to a life-time portfolio at the number of discrete moments of time [18]. Similar problems were then studied by Robert C. Merton in his two famous articles, from 1969 and 1971, in which he discusses the topic of building a life-time

portfolio of stocks for the sake of calculating optimal consumption (the amount of money that can be withdrawn from the portfolio with no major detriment for this portfolio's performance) [19, 20]. Another worth-noticing piece of work in this stream was i.a. the paper of Morton and Pliska in which they introduced transaction costs to the Merton portfolio problem and eliminated the need of making transactions in continuous time, giving instead a sequence of discrete moments of time at which transactions are allowed to be made by an investor [21]. There was also a paper by Colin Atkinson et.al. in which the portfolio problem in question was translated into the language of differential equations and a numerical procedure to solve them was proposed [22]. On the other hand, Jakša Cvitanić and Ioannis Karatzas were studying a slightly different portfolio optimisation problem using martingale theory and advanced tools of stochastic calculus [23].

An entirely different approach to the topic of portfolio optimisation has been also proposed in regard to a famous paper of J.L. Kelly Jr [24]. The paper itself is not however related to portfolio management directly — actually all statements are formulated in the language of information theory and examples given are referencing gambling. The author argues that the best strategy for a gambler is to maximise the logarithm of wealth (which in this context simply meant the logarithm of the amount of money possessed by the gambler). Kelly proved that a strategy devised that way will outperform any other strategy in a long enough amount of time almost surely. This idea was called a "Kelly criterion". It was quickly implemented in the field of portfolio management and found a lot of attention but also a lot of controversy. One of the biggest criticisers of this approach were Paul Samuelson and Robert C. Merton, who were of the opinion that the research related to portfolio management should continue to be conducted in the language of utility functions (developed by them) calling the application of Kelly criterion a "fallacy" [25]. Despite this criticism, the idea of building and maintaining a Growth Optimal Portfolio (which evolved from the "Kelly criterion") is still being extensively studied. The first chapter of the book by Morten Mosegaard Christensen from 2012 constitutes a very broad overview of the history, mathematical and practical aspects and various discussions on the topic of the Growth Optimal Portfolio [26]. A study of a portfolio using Kelly strategy has also been presented in an article of Paolo Laureti et.al. [27].

The last set of methods in the field of investment portfolio management which we will name in this brief overview are Monte Carlo simulations. They were used by Riccardo Cesari and David Cremonini who provided a wide comparison between various portfolio management techniques in their article from 2003 [28]. Their main assumption was the normality and independence of returns. They were first testing those qualities in their data and later they were simulating synthetic data-sets according to the results the tests they obtained. A slightly more theoretically-oriented article written by Ofer Alper et.al. appeared in 2017 [29] aiming to compare selected portfolio management strategies in presence of correlation between the assets and with inclusion of transaction fees. A significant part of the work in this dissertation can be seen as an extension of this particular article.

# 1.2 Overview of the content of this work and its goals

As it was indicated in section 1.1, the research in the field of investment portfolio management has a long and diverse history. Over the years, thousands of scientists published their works on this subject matter and they were using a variety of tools and methods originating from a lot of different fields of science — not only pure mathematics, but also statistics, physics and social sciences. This variety of research methodologies led to the situation in which it is difficult to acquire knowledge about investment portfolio management, as different approaches use different language for the description of the concepts of interest. Sometimes the same ideas are named or denoted completely differently by different authors. Some works, especially the ones focusing mostly on the practical and application aspects of how to manage the investment portfolio, lack mathematical precision and unambiguity, which makes it significantly more difficult to e.g. reproduce the results which they present. This dissertation can be seen as an attempt to address all of those problems. One of the main goals of this thesis is to present a rigorous, mathematically-rooted framework in which portfolio management subject area can be learnt, developed and researched. Moreover, we strongly believe that such framework is very much needed. As an analogy — we know it was possible to analyse various random experiments before the notion of probability space was introduced by Andrey Kolmogorov in 1933. But only after it happened, the theory of probability found its proper place in the world of mathematics as a branch of measure theory and only then it become one of the most prominent areas of mathematics as a whole. We hope this work can contribute to finding a proper place for the research over various aspects of investment portfolio management. The entire Chapter 2 has been devoted to present a proposal of a rigorous mathematical framework which can be used for mathematical analysis within portfolio management area. In this part of the dissertation we formally define the notion of a market, a portfolio and measures to assess its performance, including the most basic one — the portfolio wealth. We agree what exactly we will be calling a portfolio management strategy and introduce a number of them within a discrete-time

regime. The scope of this chapter has been cover in Ref. [30].

We do believe that a good mathematical foundation for a research topic is necessary for the results of this research to be meaningful. However, in come cases, designing mathematical concepts and ideas is not the goal in itself. More often then not, those concepts and ideas are created to model some real-life phenomena and studying them allows to draw incisive conclusions about the reality. This is another field which we think this work contributes to. Using the foundations set out in Chapter 2, in Chapter 3 we designed, performed and analysed the outcomes of a group of numerical experiments which allowed us to deepen our understanding of the behaviour of the portfolio management strategies, which we selected to study. We compared several strategies which utilise a scheme called portfolio rebalancing and examined the impact of a couple of factors on their performance. We also put to the test some strategies, the definitions of which we formalised ourselves, which use well-known trading indicators to make the buy-or-sell decision. All the numerical experiments were based on the Monte Carlo methodology and as such, the same experiment was always repeated usually at least several hundred times to draw reliable conclusions — this has been explained in section 3.1. The well-established model of Heston [31]has been chosen by us for simulating the trajectories meant to represent the prices of financial assets. The detailed specification of the model and its parameters have been described in section 3.3. In subsequent section, 3.4, the addition of discontinuities to the Heston model has been described. Since all our strategies have been defined to be discrete in time, section 3.5 describes the details of Heston model discretisation and simulation (as those topics are very much related to one another) both with and without jumps. The experiments themselves have been presented in section 3.6. Most of them have also been published in Ref. [32], although we added some new ones for completing this work in particular.

In many disciplines, computer simulation results provide a valuable insight into the character of the objects or phenomena studied, but the final step is to relate the outcomes obtained by simulations to real-life observations. Portfolio management is very much an example of where this should also be done. While in multiple fields of science the parameters of the model used for simulation are known up-front, since they represent some characteristics of the objects that are being studied, which can be directly measured, it is not the case for analysing investment strategies and moreover it is usually not the case for most models used in mathematical finance. Those models often feature parameters or additional variables referred to as "drift" or "volatility" which most people in the realm of financial analysis are familiar with, but it is far from obvious how to get the exact values of those quantities for a given financial model. Usually, the only aspect of a financial instrument to which researchers and practitioners have easy access is its price, changing over time. Everything else needs to be somehow extracted out of the price process. Addressing this problem has been another goal of this work. We managed to successfully assemble an effective estimation technique for the Heston model (without and with jumps), utilising both existing and new methods, devised by us. The tools which we used are based on the idea of Bayesian inference [33] and Monte Carlo Markov Chains [34]. It has been presented in Chapter 4. Not only did we provide an extensive, precise and easy-to-follow recipe for the estimation process (section 4.2), but we also showed the results of an exemplary estimation for a simulated asset, thoroughly analysed it and described all aspects of using the procedure which require additional caution (section 4.3). Results presented in this chapter have been published in Ref. [35]

Chapters 3 and 4 respectively provide results of simulation-based research and the estimation procedure, which allows obtaining the actual values of parameters the simulation experiments were based on. The final step, therefore, was to demonstrate the applicability of those synthetic results to the real data. This has been done in Chapter 5. By estimating the parameters of our model for three different financial assets we were able to place them on a spectrum of the applicability of portfolio management strategies which we studied and it indeed turned out that the choice of strategies advised by our research was optimal in terms of profits. We have demonstrated that in Ref. [36] as well.

Chapter 5 ties together all the research areas covered in this work — theoretical considerations, numerical experiments, the estimation scheme and a real-data experiment. It is followed by a short summary and outlook for further research in Chapter 6.

# 2 Formal framework for studying portfolio management

#### 2.1 Fundamental concepts of portfolio dynamics

As a first step, we are going to formally define the notions used throughout the rest of the work. Some of those terms appeared in diverse forms in literature already but we provide our own definitions to systematise their usage, as mentioned in the Introduction. We start by defining the notion of *a market*.

**Definition 1.** A market  $\{\mathcal{M}_i\}_{i\in I}$  is an indexed family with an index set  $I = \{1, 2, \ldots, N\}, N \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$  consisting of N stochastic processes  $S_i \in I$ , all defined on the same probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$ , the same time domain  $[0, +\infty]$  and having the same state space —  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . Each stochastic processes  $S_i$  in  $\mathcal{M}$  is called *an asset*.

While the elements of the market might theoretically represent various types of assets, throughout this thesis we will mostly use this term to represents shares of stocks. Hence, the terms: "asset" and "stock" will be used interchangeably.

We can now proceed with the definition of a *portfolio* on a market.

**Definition 2.** A portfolio  $\mathcal{P}$  built on a market  $\mathcal{M}$  is an ordered pair  $(\mathcal{S}, \mathcal{Q})$ .  $\mathcal{S}$  is called an asset component and it is a partially stochastic, (N + 1)-dimensional vector-valued function with coordinate functions of indices 1 to N being elements of  $\mathcal{M}$ ,

$$\mathcal{S}: [0, +\infty] \to \mathbb{R}^{N+1}_+. \tag{2.1}$$

The coordinate function of the index 0 inside S is always equal 1.

$$S_0(t) \equiv 1 \text{ for all } t \in [0, +\infty].$$

$$(2.2)$$

In other words, for a time moment  $t \in [0, +\infty]$ ,  $\mathcal{S}(t)$  is defined as

$$\mathcal{S}(t) = \left(S_0(t), S_1(t), S_2(t), \dots, S_N(t)\right) = \left(1, S_1(t), S_2(t), \dots, S_N(t)\right).$$
(2.3)

Likewise  $\mathcal{Q}$ , which is called a quantity component, is also a stochastic, (N + 1)dimensional vector-valued function with coordinate functions  $q_i$  being stochastic processes defined on the same probability space and time domain as all of the  $S_i$ processes, for  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , but having the entire real line as the state space

$$\mathcal{Q}:[0,+\infty] \to \mathbb{R}^{N+1},\tag{2.4}$$

$$t \mapsto (q_0(t), q_1(t), q_2(t), \dots, q_N(t)) = \mathcal{Q}(t).$$
 (2.5)

The  $S_0$  asset represents the cash, which an investor may also wish to store in their portfolio, alongside the risky assets, being a part of the market  $\mathcal{M}$ . Cash does not change its value in time at all<sup>1</sup>, hence it is modelled by a constant function, always equal to 1, since unlike stocks — this fact is reflected in Eq. (2.2).

The elements of the quantity component at any given moment of time represent the amount of a given asset in a portfolio, e.g. number of shares if the type of assets we are considering is common stock. For the zero-th asset, it simply represents the amount of cash in the portfolio, i.e.  $q_0$ . It is highlighted in the definition of the quantity component that the coordinate functions have the entire real line as a state space, which means they can also take negative values. This would represent short-selling, i.e. selling an asset not physically owned by the owner of the portfolio<sup>2</sup>.

We will usually only observe and work with portfolios for a predefined amount of time (e.g. one year, three years, ten years). We will call it *portfolio duration*, or *maturity* T and express it in years.

The notion of the portfolio allows us to define what we consider an investment strategy.

**Definition 3.** An investment strategy is a way of deciding upon a value of the portfolio's quantity components  $q_i$  at any given moment of time  $t \in [0, T]$  based on previous values of this and other quantity components and the values of the assets. In other words, it is a function (possibly auto-recursive or delayed), which allows to establish the current value of the *i*-th quantity component of a given portfolio, i.e.

$$q_i(t) = f(t, q_j(u), S_j(u)),$$
(2.6)

where  $i, j \in I$  and  $u \in [0, t)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This statement is debatable due to existence of various economic circumstances, e.g. periods of high inflation or a possibility of placing cash into a risk-free interest bearing deposit. We consider neither of those in this work and treat the constant value of portfolio cash as an assumption. This assumption could however be easily lifted by introducing another (possibly stochastic) model for cash.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>None of the management strategies studied by us allow for shot selling, but — similarly to the case of the variable value of cash — the framework is ready to support such models.

The definition mentions a very natural assumption related any portfolio management strategy which needs to be met in order for the strategy to be applicable in practice. At any point of time t the investor only knows prices of each of the N assets up to this moment and not further, i.e. for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$  values of  $S_i(u)$  and  $q_i(u)$  are known only for u < t. Violation of this assumption for any strategy would effectively mean a possibility to "predict the future", which is not possible in real-life.

An example of a very simple investment strategy is a passive strategy.

**Definition 4.** A passive strategy is a strategy for which values of the functions of the quantity component are constant in time, i.e. for each  $i \in I$  we have  $q_i(t) = q_i(0) = const$  for any  $t \in [0, T]$ .

A portfolio which is run by a passive strategy is often called a passive portfolio it is very common that a portfolio is referred to using a name of a strategy according to which it is run. The passive portfolio is also sometimes referred to as *a buy-and-forget portfolio* or *a buy-and-hold portfolio*. It is admittedly very straightforward but it is very useful, as it can often be treated as a benchmark, i.e. a baseline to compare against other portfolios in which the owner actually makes some changes intended to make improvements in portfolio performance. To evaluate how an investment portfolio is performing, a number of measures can be introduced. The most basic one is its value changing over time. We call it the portfolio *wealth*.

**Definition 5.** Wealth of portfolio  $\mathcal{P}$  at any moment of time  $t \in [0, T]$  is a scalar product of the vector of the values of assets  $\mathcal{S}$  and the vector of quantities of these assets  $\mathcal{Q}$ .

$$W_{\mathcal{P}}(t) = \langle \mathcal{S}(t), \mathcal{Q}(t) \rangle = \sum_{i=0}^{N} S_i(t) q_i(t), \qquad (2.7)$$

In most cases, it is obvious from the context the wealth of which portfolio is being described, so we will drop the  $\mathcal{P}$  subscript from wealth's denotement and write W(t) instead of  $W_{\mathcal{P}}(t)$  whenever possible.

## 2.2 Balanced portfolio, time discretisation and selffinancing

The notion of portfolio wealth, presented in Definition 5 can be used to define a more complex method of portfolio management, than the passive one. It is based on undertaking specific actions when market prices change. It is called *a balanced portfolio*. To define it, we first need to introduce the concept of *fractions of wealth* [29].

**Definition 6.** An *i*-th fraction of wealth  $f_i$  (also called a wealth fraction or simply – a fraction), at any moment of time t, is a component of the portfolio wealth W(t) associated with an *i*-th portfolio asset, i.e.

$$f_i(t) = \frac{S_i(t) \cdot q_i(t)}{W(t)} \quad \text{for all } i \in \{0, 1, 2 \dots N\}.$$
(2.8)

If we take into consideration the Definition 5 of portfolio wealth, is clear that  $\sum_{i=0}^{N} f_i(t) = 1$  — hence the name: wealth fractions. Knowing what they are, we can define a balanced portfolio strategy [29].

**Definition 7.** A balanced strategy is a strategy, according to which quantity components of assets  $q_i(t)$  are selected in such a way that all fractions of wealth  $f_i$  are constant in time, i.e. for all  $i \in \{0, 1, 2..., N\}$  we have  $f_i(t) = f_i(0) = const$  for any t.

Such a portfolio construct essentially guarantees that if the price of a particular asset increases, its amount in the portfolio is made smaller (hence — assets are sold when their prices are getting higher) and if the price drops — its amount is increased (thus — we buy new assets when their prices are diminishing). However, the above definition of the balanced portfolio is implicit — it does not provide any guidance on how to manipulate the quantities of the assets to keep portfolio in a balanced state. It is not even obvious if it is always possible to keep it in that state and if it is — what is the formula and can it be given in an explicit way? This is a problem for a lot of investment strategies when we try to describe them in a timecontinuous context. This is, however, not actually necessary as in practice we hardly ever deal with continuous pricing of assets and even if we were — it is impossible to perform transactions in a continuous manner on a real market. Therefore, for the sake of practical application — it is sufficient to create an iterative procedure which captures the idea of building a balanced portfolio. To this end two things are necessary. One is the discretised time axis for the process. We can introduce it as a sequence of (n+1) discrete moments of time, equally distributed every  $\Delta t$ , i.e.  $t_0 = 0, t_1 = \Delta t, t_2 = 2\Delta t, t_3 = 3\Delta t, \dots, t_n = n\Delta t = T$ , where  $\Delta t$  is a small time increment,  $\Delta t = \frac{T}{n}$ . Once we have that, we also need a notion of what is called temporary wealth of the portfolio, i.e. the value of our portfolio which arises from the amount of assets and cash we had in the previous step.

**Definition 8.** Temporary wealth of portfolio  $\mathcal{P}$  at any moment of time  $t = k\Delta t, k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  is its value at that time if no changes to the amounts of assets in portfolio were made:

$$W^{temp}(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=0}^{N} q_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) \cdot S_i(k\Delta t), \qquad (2.9)$$

where  $q_i^{temp}(t) = q_i ((k-1)\Delta t).$ 

Having both of those things defined, we propose a discretised version of the portfolio balancing strategy [29]

**Definition 9.** A discrete balanced strategy is a strategy for which the quantity update scheme has the following form:

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)},$$
(2.10)

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = 0, \tag{2.11}$$

$$q_i(0) = f_i \cdot \frac{W(0)}{S_i(0)},\tag{2.12}$$

for consecutive  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , and within each k — for consecutive  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , where W(0) is a fixed, initial portfolio wealth and  $f_i$  is an *i*-th wealth fraction. A set of operations performed in a singe time step,  $t = k\Delta t$  for some  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  is called portfolio rebalancing.

In the above definition, we can think of the initial wealth W(0) as of an initial amount of money which will be invested in the portfolio. The temporary wealth of portfolio  $W^{temp}$  comes in useful here, as it allows to keep track of the wealth of portfolio in a given time step, before its rebalancing is performed, since before it is done the quantity of each asset is equal to the actual quantity of this asset from the previous step. It is also worth noting, that this portfolio strategy does not use any cash. Its amount is being kept 0, according to equation (2.11).

One of the characteristics of a good portfolio management strategy is being *self-financing*.

**Definition 10.** A strategy is called self-financing if it requires no additional cash inflow to be executed for any  $t \in (0, T]$  and in which profits get immediately reinvested at any given moment  $t \in [0, T)$ . In terms of quantities and asset prices that means that for any  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , the following equality is preserved

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} q_i \Big( (k-1)\Delta t \Big) S_i(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=0}^{N} q_i(k\Delta t) S_i(k\Delta t)$$
(2.13)

or, alternatively,

$$W^{temp}(k\Delta t) = W(k\Delta t) \tag{2.14}$$

It can be demonstrated that the above definition of a self-financing strategy is satisfied by the discretised balanced portfolio.

**Proposition 1.** The strategy of a discretised balanced portfolio, as described by Definition 9, is self-financing.

*Proof.* Let us get a closer look at the wealth of portfolio at an arbitrary point of time  $k\Delta t$ . Its value can be obtained by using formulas (2.7) and (2.10). We have

$$W(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=0}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=0}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{N} f_i W^{temp}(k\Delta t) = W^{temp}(k\Delta t) \sum_{i=0}^{N} f_i.$$

From the Definition 6 of wealth fractions we know that  $\sum_{i=0}^{n} f_i = 1$ . Henceforth, we have

$$W(k\Delta t) = W^{temp}(k\Delta t)$$

Thus, performing a rebalance operation does not require any additional money and all changes in portfolio wealth are results of fluctuating assets prices – there is neither any kind of withdrawal nor insertion of money from or into the portfolio.  $\Box$ 

We should also prove that the discretised version of the balancing strategy is indeed a balancing strategy, according to its original definition.

**Proposition 2.** The discrete balancing strategy (from Definition 9), meets the general definition of the balancing strategy (Definition 7) in all the grid points  $t = k\Delta t, k \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., N\}$ .

*Proof.* According to the Definition 6, at t = 0, the value of the *i*-th wealth fraction is

$$f_i(0) = \frac{S_i(0) \cdot q_i(0)}{W(0)}.$$

Considering the definition of  $q_i(0)$  given by Eq. (2.12), we have

$$f_i(0) = \frac{S_i(0) \cdot q_i(0)}{W(0)} = \frac{S_i(0)}{W(0)} \cdot f_i \cdot \frac{W(0)}{S_i(0)} = f_i.$$

At any other moment of time  $t = k\Delta t$ , we have

$$f_i(k\Delta t) = \frac{S_i(k\Delta t) \cdot q_i(k\Delta t)}{W(k\Delta t)} = \frac{S_i(k\Delta t)}{W(k\Delta t)} \cdot f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)}.$$

We proved in Proposition 1, that for a discretised balancing strategy  $W(k\Delta t) = W^{temp}(k\Delta t)$ , hence

$$f_i(k\Delta t) = \frac{S_i(k\Delta t)}{W(k\Delta t)} \cdot f_i \frac{W(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} = f_i.$$

We hence proved that the wealth fractions remain constant all the time, which means the discretised balancing strategy is indeed the balancing strategy for any  $t = k\Delta t, k \in \{0, 1, 2, ..., N\}$ .

From now on, we will only be talking about discrete management strategies, hence the "discrete balanced strategy" will simply be called "balanced strategy".

### 2.3 Transactions costs and frugal balancing strategies

Most markets charge investors for making transactions, which is why keeping portfolio balanced becomes expensive if we take transaction costs into consideration. In most cases, the value of the fee is determined as a percentage of the value of assets being exchanged. This amount is normally deducted from the cash account related to the brokerage account. However, it is possible to introduce a (simplified) way of including transaction costs into portfolio strategy without the necessity of introducing the notion of portfolio cash. This has been presented for the balanced strategy in Ref. [29]. The idea is that the fee directly lowers the amounts of assets that would be necessary to reconstruct the portfolio and make it balanced again.

**Definition 11.** A balancing strategy with the inclusion of transaction fees is a strategy for which the quantity update scheme has the following form

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - A(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)},$$
(2.15)

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = 0, \qquad (2.16)$$

$$q_i(0) = f_i \cdot \frac{W(0)}{S_i(0)},\tag{2.17}$$

for consecutive  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , and within each k — for consecutive  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , where W(0) is a fixed, initial portfolio wealth,  $f_i$  is an *i*-th wealth fraction. A(t) is the total value of fees, calculated as

$$A(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \alpha |S_i(k\Delta t) \cdot (q_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - q_i'(k\Delta t))|, \qquad (2.18)$$

where  $\alpha$  is a constant level of fees and  $q'_i$  is the desired quantity of each kind of asset, defined to be

$$q_i'(k\Delta t) = f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)}.$$
(2.19)

A set of operations performed in a single time step,  $t = k\Delta t$  for some  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  is called portfolio rebalancing.

Note that if we take transaction costs into consideration, as described by formula (2.15), keeping portfolio in a balanced state becomes costly so that profits resulting from using this strategy might be overtaken by the expenses related to the fees. This is why two more frugal strategies have been devised. First one is based on the idea of rarefying the moments of rebalancing the portfolio, by some constant factor m, i.e. performing the rebalance m times less often. This strategy is called *periodically balanced* [29]. In such case the procedure of updating the quantities of assets takes place once every m time intervals of length  $\Delta t$  and between these moments portfolio acts like a passive one.

**Definition 12.** A periodically balanced strategy with the inclusion of transaction fees is a strategy for which the quantity update scheme has the following form

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - A(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} & \text{if } k \mod m = 0\\ q_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.20)

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = 0, \tag{2.21}$$

$$q_i(0) = f_i \cdot \frac{W(0)}{S_i(0)}; \tag{2.22}$$

for consecutive  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , and within each k — for consecutive  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , where  $m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$  is the rebalance period, W(0) is a fixed, initial portfolio wealth,  $f_i$  is an *i*-th wealth fraction. A(t) is the total value of fees, calculated as

$$A(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \alpha |S_i(k\Delta t) \cdot (q_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - q_i'(k\Delta t))|, \qquad (2.23)$$

where  $\alpha$  is a constant level of fees and  $q'_i$  is the desired quantity of each kind of asset, defined to be

$$q_i'(k\Delta t) = f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)}.$$
(2.24)

A set of operations performed in a single time step,  $t = k\Delta t$  for k such that k mod m = 0 is called portfolio rebalancing.

Another method of reducing transaction costs while not leaving the idea of rebalancing the portfolio completely is to build a *partially balanced portfolio*. In this strategy, however, the goal is not to limit the number of transactions, but their value. Therefore, instead of making the portfolio 100% balanced in every iteration, each time transactions are made that bring the portfolio closer to the state of being fully balanced, but they do not make it entirely balanced. The parameter which will encode what part of portfolio is being rebalanced will be denoted by D. In each time step and for each asset, instead of buying or selling the amount of assets which would completely balance the portfolio, only D of it is actually exchanged. Consequently, the portfolio is never fully balanced, but the transaction costs are smaller by a factor of D.

**Definition 13.** A partially balanced strategy with the inclusion of transaction fees is a strategy for which the quantity update scheme has the following form

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = \frac{W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) + D \cdot (f_i \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_i \cdot A(k\Delta t))}{S_i(k\Delta t)},$$
(2.25)

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = 0, \tag{2.26}$$

$$q_i(0) = f_i \cdot \frac{W(0)}{S_i(0)},\tag{2.27}$$

for consecutive  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , and within each k — for consecutive  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , where  $D, D \in [0, 1]$  is the partial rebalancing coefficient, W(0) is a fixed, initial portfolio wealth,  $f_i$  is an *i*-th wealth fraction,  $W_i^{temp}$  is an *i*-th temporary wealth fraction

$$W_i^{temp} = S_i(k\Delta t) \cdot q_i((k-1)\Delta t).$$
(2.28)

A(t) is the total value of fees

$$A(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \alpha |S_i(k\Delta t) \cdot (q_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - q_i'(k\Delta t))|, \qquad (2.29)$$

where  $\alpha$  is a constant level of fees and  $q'_i$  is the desired quantity of each kind of asset,

$$q_i'(k\Delta t) = f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)}.$$
(2.30)

A set of operations performed in a single time step,  $t = k\Delta t$  for some  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  is called partial portfolio rebalancing.

An interesting fact about the partially balanced strategy is that for specific values of parameter D, it can turn into other strategies, which have already been discussed.

Fact 1. The partially balanced portfolio management strategy reduces to the passive strategy for D = 0.

*Proof.* To prove that, one needs to demonstrate that the actual quantities of assets never change i.e.  $q_i(k\Delta t) = q_i((k-1)\Delta t)$ . For an arbitrary choice of k > 0, we have

$$q_{i}(k\Delta t) = \frac{W_{i}^{temp}(k\Delta t) + D \cdot (f_{i} \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - W_{i}^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_{i} \cdot A(k\Delta t))}{S_{i}(k\Delta t)}$$

$$= \frac{W_{i}^{temp}(k\Delta t) + 0 \cdot (f_{i} \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - W_{i}^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_{i} \cdot A(k\Delta t))}{S_{i}(k\Delta t)}$$

$$= \frac{W_{i}^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_{i}(k\Delta t)} = \frac{S_{i}(k\Delta t) \cdot q_{i}((k-1)\Delta t)}{S_{i}(k\Delta t)} = q_{i}((k-1)\Delta t).$$

Fact 2. The partially balanced portfolio management strategy reduces to the regular balanced strategy for D = 1.

*Proof.* To prove that, it suffices to demonstrate that Eq. (2.25) reduces to Eq. (2.15) for D = 1, as the rest of the updating scheme is the same. We have

$$\begin{split} q_i(k\Delta t) &= \frac{W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) + D \cdot (f_i \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_i \cdot A(k\Delta t))}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \\ &= \frac{W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) + 1 \cdot (f_i \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_i \cdot A(k\Delta t))}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \\ &= \frac{W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) + f_i \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_i \cdot A(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \\ &= \frac{f_i \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_i \cdot A(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} = f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - A(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)}. \end{split}$$

(2.31)

Hence, for a partially balanced portfolio one could think of D as of a "slider" between passive and fully balanced portfolio which can be considered two extremes.

The approaches of rebalancing the portfolio periodically and partially can also be merged together to jointly form a composite periodically and partially balanced strategy [29].

**Definition 14.** A periodically and partially balanced strategy with the inclusion of transaction fees is a strategy for which the quantity update scheme has the following form

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \Big( W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) + D \times \\ \Big( f_i \cdot W^{temp}(k\Delta t) - W_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - f_i \cdot A(k\Delta t) \Big) \Big) & \text{if } k \mod m = 0 \\ q_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = 0, (2.32)$$

$$q_i(0) = f_i \cdot \frac{W(0)}{S_i(0)}; \tag{2.33}$$

for consecutive  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , and within each k — for consecutive  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , where  $m, m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$  is the rebalance period,  $D \in [0, 1]$  is the partial rebalancing coefficient, W(0) is a fixed, initial portfolio wealth,  $f_i$  is an *i*-th wealth fraction,  $W_i^{temp}$ is an *i*-th temporary wealth fraction. A(t) is the total value of fees

$$A(k\Delta t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \alpha |S_i(k\Delta t) \cdot (q_i^{temp}(k\Delta t) - q_i'(k\Delta t))|, \qquad (2.34)$$

where  $\alpha$  is a constant level of fees and  $q'_i$  is the desired quantity of each kind of asset

$$q_i'(k\Delta t) = f_i \frac{W^{temp}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)}.$$
(2.35)

A set of operations performed in a single time step,  $t = k\Delta t$  for k such that k mod m = 0 is called partial portfolio rebalancing.

In the periodically and partially balanced strategy we have two parameters — m and D — which we can use to optimise portfolio performance in given market conditions.

#### 2.4 Strategies based on trading indicators

Keeping the wealth fractions constant is one of the ways of altering an investment portfolio in order to increase its performance. Throughout the years, investors have been attempting to find various mathematical tools which would allow them to find the correct moment to buy or sell a stock. This resulted in creation of a wide set of indicators and markers designed for that particular purpose. A branch of trading activities which studies usefulness of those markers is called *technical analysis* [37]. In this section we will have a closer look at two of the most well-known trading indicators and we will build investment strategies utilising them in order to systematically examine their usefulness in particular market conditions.

#### 2.4.1 MACD trading indicator

One of the most widespread indicators, well known among all investors using technical analysis is MACD — *Moving Average Convergence Divergence* [38].

MACD was invented by Gerard Appel in 1979. It is based on a couple of time series which are derived from the asset price process by means of a transformation very commonly used in technical analysis — EMA — the *Exponential Moving Average*. As the name itself suggests it is a kind of a moving average, but with exponentially decreasing weights of factors more distant in time from the current one.

**Definition 15.** Exponential Moving Average is a transformation of a discrete stochastic process  $\{X(k\Delta t)\}_{k=0}^{n}$  described with the following recursive formula

$$\operatorname{EMA}_{X,p}(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} X(k\Delta t), & \text{for } t = 0\\ \alpha X(k\Delta t) + (1-\alpha) \operatorname{EMA}_{X,p}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right), & \text{for } t > 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.36)

where  $\alpha = \frac{2}{p+1}$  and  $p \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$  is a parameter of the transformation, called *the lag*, .

As one can see, EMA itself can be interpreted as a time series. Besides the time itself, two additional inputs are required for the EMA value to be computed. As mentioned earlier, one of them is the base process X. As far as the applications in portfolio management are concerned, this process is almost always the stock price of one of the portfolio assets  $S_i$ , for some  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ . Hence, to simplify the notation, instead of writing  $\text{EMA}_{S_i,p}$ , we will just put  $\text{EMA}_{i,p}$ . The second parameter of EMA, p, is largely responsible for the weight of the past values taken to the average. The bigger p, the bigger is the weight of older values of the underlying process in the final result, which has an effect in a smoother EMA curve. MACD indicator makes its predictions based on the difference between two time series. The first is the MACD line, i.e. a line obtained by subtracting two EMAs of different lags.

**Definition 16.** The difference between two EMA time series with different lags p and q, with  $p, q \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}, p < q$ , is called the MACD line.

$$MACD_{i,p,q}(k\Delta t) = EMA_{i,p}(t) - EMA_{i,q}(k\Delta t)$$
(2.37)

EMA related to the lag parameter p is called the *fast line* whereas the one related to the parameter q is called the *slow line*.

Buy and sell signals are generated in places where the MACD line crosses what is called the *signal line* — another EMA, with a new lag parameter s < p — see the example plots in Figs. 2.1a and 2.1b. Therefore, we can introduce what we will call the indicator line. Whenever this line changes from positive to negative (or the other way around) will be interpreted by the strategy as a buy or sell signal.

**Definition 17.** The MACD indicator line is the difference between an EMA with lag s (called the signal line) and the MACD line with fast line lag p and slow line lag q:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t) = \operatorname{EMA}_{i,s}(k\Delta t) - \operatorname{MACD}_{i,p,q}(k\Delta t), \qquad (2.38)$$

where  $s \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}, s < p$ .

Whenever the indicator line changes its value from negative to positive — MACD gives a "buy" signal. Contrarily, when this line drops from positive values to the negative ones — we obtain a "sell" signal. Hence we, can introduce the buying and selling indicators:

**Definition 18.** The MACD buy indicator is a time series of 1-s and 0-s defined in the following way :

$$\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^{+}(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } t > 0 \land \operatorname{Ind}_{i,p,q,s}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) < 0 \land \operatorname{Ind}_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t) > 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$(2.39)$$

Similarly, the MACD sell indicator is the following time series

$$\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^{-}(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } t > 0 \land \operatorname{Ind}_{i,p,q,s}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) > 0 \land \operatorname{Ind}_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t) < 0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.40)



Figure 2.1: Illustration of buy and sell signals for MACD and RSI strategies: (a) and (b) — buy signals are generated when the MACD line crosses the signal line from the bottom, sell signals are generated when the MACD line crosses the signal line from the top; (c) and (d) — buy signals are generated when the RSI line leaves the oversold (below 30) area, sell signals are generated when it leaves the overbought (above 70) area.

Until that moment, we were only using mathematical notation to write down ideas and concepts known previously, related to the MACD indicator. However, the MACD only tells *when* to buy or sell a particular asset, but not *how much* and, as we know already, for that we need what is called a strategy. Hence, we propose our own way of formalising the usage of MACD in form of a proper investment strategy, as defined by the Definition 3 for that purpose.

**Definition 19.** An MACD-based strategy (or "MACD strategy", in short) is a strategy for which the quantity update scheme has the following form

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = q'_i(k\Delta t) + \frac{c(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1} \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t), \qquad (2.41)$$

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = q'_0(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t), \qquad (2.42)$$

$$q_i(0) \ge 0, \tag{2.43}$$

for consecutive  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , and within each k — for consecutive  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , where  $q_i(0)$  are initial amounts of assets (for i > 1) and cash (for i = 0),  $c(k\Delta t)$  is an amount of cash used to buy new assets, defined as

$$c(k\Delta t) = \phi q'_0(k\Delta t). \tag{2.44}$$

 $q'_i(k\Delta t)$  is the temporary quantity of i - th assets after (potentially) selling some of them but before buying new ones at time  $t = k\Delta t$  and  $q'_0(k\Delta t)$  is the temporary amount of cash at that moment:

$$q_i'(k\Delta t) = q_i \left( (k-1)\Delta t \right) (1 - \psi \mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t)), \qquad (2.45)$$

$$q_0'(k\Delta t) = q_0 \Big( (k-1)\Delta t \Big) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t) q_i \Big( (k-1)\Delta t \Big) \psi \mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t).$$
(2.46)

 $\phi, \psi \in [0, 1]$  are called a buy and a sell factor respectively.

Let us explain more descriptively how the strategy works. The factors  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  decide upon the actual amount of assets bought and sold when the signal from MACD comes. They can be picked arbitrarily by any investor, as they are meant to represent their trust in selling and buying through signals generated by the MACD indicator. The sell factor  $\psi$  controls the assets' disposal process. Whenever MACD generates a sell signal for a given stock, a  $\psi$  part of the amount of this asset is sold (see Eq. (2.45)) and the money from selling is converted into portfolio cash (see Eq. (2.46)). Similarly, the buy factor  $\phi$  drives the purchase procedure. This time however, it is used to

decide, what part of available cash (including new portion obtained from selling some stocks) will be used to buy new stocks. The fraction of portfolio cash  $c(k\Delta t)$  is then used to buy assets indicated by a buy signal (see Eqs. (2.44), (2.42) and (2.41)).

It can be proven that the strategy described in Definition 19 is self-financing.

**Theorem 1.** The strategy of an MACD portfolio, as described by Definition 19, is self-financing.

*Proof.* Let us now look into the movements which happen at an arbitrary point of time  $t = k\Delta t$ . On one hand, we know that the wealth of it is expressed by formula (2.7). This we can write as

$$W(k\Delta t) = q_0(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t)q_i(k\Delta t).$$
(2.47)

On the other hand however, we know that before we do any buy or sell transaction at time t, the value of our portfolio arises from the amount of assets we had in the previous step, so the temporary wealth, as defined in Definition 8 can be written as

$$W^{temp}(k\Delta t) = q_0 \left( (k-1)\Delta t \right) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t) q_i \left( (k-1)\Delta t \right).$$
(2.48)

Using equations (2.41) and (2.42) we have

$$\begin{split} W(k\Delta t) &= q_0(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i(k\Delta t) = \\ &= q_0'(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t) + \\ &\sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) \left( q_i'(k\Delta t) + \frac{c(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \left( \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbbm{1}_{j,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \right)^{-1} \mathbbm{1}_{i,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \right) \\ &= q_0'(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i'(k\Delta t) + \\ &\sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) \frac{c(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \left( \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbbm{1}_{j,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \right)^{-1} \mathbbm{1}_{i,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) = \\ &= q_0'(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i'(k\Delta t) + \\ &\sum_{i=1}^{N} c(k\Delta t) \mathbbm{1}_{i,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \left( \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbbm{1}_{j,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \right)^{-1} = \\ &= q_0'(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i'(k\Delta t) + \\ &c(k\Delta t) \left( \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbbm{1}_{j,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \right)^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbbm{1}_{i,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) = \\ &= q_0'(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i'(k\Delta t) + \\ &c(k\Delta t) \left( \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbbm{1}_{j,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \right)^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbbm{1}_{i,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) = \\ &= q_0'(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i'(k\Delta t) + c(k\Delta t) = \\ &= q_0'(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t) q_i'(k\Delta t). \end{split}$$

Now, using equations (2.45) and (2.46) we obtain

$$\begin{split} W(k\Delta t) =& q_0'(k\Delta t) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i'(k\Delta t) = \\ =& q_0\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)\psi\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t) + \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)(1 - \psi\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t)) = \\ =& q_0\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)\psi\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t) + \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) - \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)\psi\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t) = \\ =& q_0\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) = W^{temp}(k\Delta t). \end{split}$$

Thus, since  $W(k\Delta t) = W^{temp}(k\Delta t)$ , the strategy is indeed self-financing.

It can also be proven that the quantities of assets and the amount of cash in the MACD portfolio will never be negative.

**Theorem 2.** The value of  $q_i(k\Delta t)$  in the MACD strategy stays non-negative for all  $k \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$  and for all  $i \in \{0, 1, ..., N\}$ .

*Proof.* We will prove that if an amount a given asset (including cash) brought from the previous time step is non-negative, it will remain such in the next step. That, together with an assumption that the initial amount of each asset at time t = 0 is non-negative (given as an inequality (2.43) in Definition 19) proves it will always be that way.

Therefore, let us assume the quantities in the previous step were all non-negative  $q_i((k-1)\Delta t) \ge 0$  for all  $i \in \{0, 1, ..., N\}$ . We will start by proving non-negativity for cash. At time t, the ultimate amount of cash is given by equation (2.42),

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = q'_0(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t).$$

Plugging equation (2.44) into the above one we get

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = q'_0(k\Delta t) - \phi q'_0(k\Delta t) = q'_0(k\Delta t)(1-\phi).$$

Using equation (2.46) yields

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = \left(q_0\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\psi\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t)\right)(1-\phi) = \left(q_0\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) + \psi\sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t)\right)(1-\phi).$$

Now,  $q_0((k-1)\Delta t) \ge 0$  and  $q_i((k-1)\Delta t) \ge 0$  (by assumption), as well as  $\psi \in [0, 1]$ ,  $S_i(k\Delta t) \ge 0$ , and  $\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t) \ge 0$  (by their respective definitions). Therefore, the entire expression  $q_0((k-1)\Delta t) + \psi \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i((k-1)\Delta t)\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t)$  must be non-negative. Also, since  $\phi \in [0, 1]$ , the expression  $(1 - \phi) \ge 0$ . Hence, multiplication of those two expressions must also be non-negative and thus

$$q_0(k\Delta t) \ge 0.$$

for any  $t \in [0, T]$ .

The ultimate quantity of each of the risky assets is given by (2.41).

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = q'_i(k\Delta t) + \frac{c(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1} \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t)$$

Now,  $q'_i(k\Delta t)$  itself is defined by (2.45)

$$q_i'(k\Delta t) = q_i \Big( (k-1)\Delta t \Big) (1 - \psi \mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t)).$$

In the above expression, we see that  $q_i((k-1)\Delta t) \ge 0$  (by assumption) as well as  $\psi \in [0,1]$  and  $\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t) \ge 0$  (by their respective definitions). Hence, we see that  $q'_i(k\Delta t) \ge 0$ .

Looking at the other term and plugging equations (2.44) and (2.46) into it we have

$$\frac{c(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1} \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t) =$$

$$= \frac{\phi q'_0(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1} \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t) =$$

$$= \phi \frac{q_0\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) + \sum_{i=1}^N S_i(k\Delta t)q_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)\psi\mathbb{1}^-_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \times$$

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1} \mathbb{1}^+_{i,p,q,s}(k\Delta t).$$

The obtained expression consists of four factors. In the first one we have  $\phi \in [0, 1]$ , so it is non-negative. In the second factor, we have a fraction in which the numerator is non-negative (as  $q_0((k-1)\Delta t)$ ) is non-negative by assumption and all terms in the sum  $\sum_{i=1}^{N} S_i(k\Delta t)q_i((k-1)\Delta t)\psi\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^-(k\Delta t)$  are non-negative — either by definition or by assumption) and the denominator is positive  $(S_i(k\Delta t) > 0)$ , by definition for any i and k). The third part is the inverse of the sum of indicators  $(\sum_{i=1}^{N}\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t))^{-1}$ , all having non-negative values of either 0 or 1, sum of which will also be non-negative and the inverse of it too. The fourth term is one of the indicators which were summed in term three, which is also non-negative, as  $\mathbb{1}_{i,p,q,s}^+(k\Delta t) \in \{0,1\}$ . Hence, the expression is a multiplication of four non-negative terms, therefore — it must be non-negative itself.

Thus,  $q_i(k\Delta t)$ , as a sum of two non-negative terms, must be non-negative too.

#### 2.4.2 RSI trading indicator

Besides MACD, another, commonly used trading indicator is called RSI — the *Relative Strength Index.* It was proposed by J. Welles Wilder Jr. in 1978 [39]. Its values can only be in the interval [0, 100] and the marker can be used to identify when an instrument is oversold (index' value below certain level, usually 30 — a signal for buying) or when it is overbought (index' value above certain level, usually 70 — a signal for selling). In order to calculate the value of RSI, the difference sequence will be used

**Definition 20.** The difference (or increments) process of a process  $\{X(k\Delta t)\}_{k=0}^{n}$  is defined to be

$$D_X(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } t = 0, \\ X_i(k\Delta t) - X_i\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big), & \text{for } t > 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.49)

Similarly to what we have done for EMA, we simplify the notation by stating that  $D_{S_i}(k\Delta t) = D_i(k\Delta t)$ , since also in this case the only process we will apply this transformation to will be the process of prices.

To calculate the RSI index, positive and negative increments need to be sorted out from each other

**Definition 21.** The positive differences (or increments) process is a process defined as

$$D_i^+(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} D_i(k\Delta t), & \text{where } D_i(k\Delta t) > 0\\ 0, & \text{where } D_i(k\Delta t) \leq 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.50)

Similarly, the negative differences (or increments) process is:

$$D_i^-(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{where } D_i(k\Delta t) \ge 0\\ D_i(k\Delta t), & \text{where } D_i(k\Delta t) < 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.51)

The RSI index relies on the notion of asset's *relative strength*. This quantity can be defined in various different ways, we will follow the original one, given by Wilder [39].

**Definition 22.** Relative strength of the *i*-th asset of a portfolio  $\mathcal{P}$  is defined to be

$$\operatorname{RS}_{i}(k\Delta t) = \frac{\operatorname{EMA}_{D_{i}^{+},s}(k\Delta t)}{\operatorname{EMA}_{D_{i}^{-},s}(k\Delta t)}.$$
(2.52)

where s is EMA's lag parameter, which, in the context of  $RS_i$ , is often called *the period*.

RSI is an index obtained by normalising relative strength, so that it's value is always between 0 and 100

**Definition 23.** The RSI Index is a process defined as

$$RSI_i(k\Delta t) = 100 - \frac{100}{1 + RS_i(k\Delta t)}.$$
(2.53)

In order to construct the actual strategy out of the values of RSI, we can construct dedicated indicators, similar to the ones that have been proposed for the MACD in Eqs. (2.39) and (2.40). This time however arbitrary levels of overselling and overbuying need to be fixed additionally. Let us denote them by  $d^+$  and  $d^-$  respectively. As mentioned above, practitioners usually stick to  $d^+ = 30$  and  $d^- = 70$  [40]. Having that fixed, we can define the indicators for RSI strategy

**Definition 24.** The RSI buy indicator is a time series of 1-s and 0-s defined in the following way:

$$\mathbb{1}_{i,d^+}^+(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \operatorname{RSI}_i\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) < d^+ \wedge \operatorname{RSI}_i(k\Delta t) > d^+, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(2.54)

Similarly, the RSI sell indicator is the following time series

$$\mathbb{1}_{i,d^{-}}^{-}(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \mathrm{RSI}_{i}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) > d^{-} \wedge \mathrm{RSI}_{i}(k\Delta t) < d^{-}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.55)

With those indicators, we can construct the exact same strategy as in case of MACD (reacting for signals, as described by Eqs. (2.41)-(2.46)) simply by replacing MACD-related buy and sell indicators by the newly defined RSI-based ones.

**Definition 25.** An RSI-based strategy (or simply an "RSI strategy") is a strategy for which the quantity update scheme has the following form

$$q_i(k\Delta t) = q'_i(k\Delta t) + \frac{c(k\Delta t)}{S_i(k\Delta t)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{1}^+_{i,d^+}(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1} \mathbb{1}^+_{i,d^+}(k\Delta t), \qquad (2.56)$$

$$q_0(k\Delta t) = q'_0(k\Delta t) - c(k\Delta t), \qquad (2.57)$$

$$q_i(0) \ge 0, \tag{2.58}$$

for consecutive  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , and within each k — for consecutive  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$ , where  $q_i(0)$  are initial amount of assets (for i > 1) and cash (for i = 0),  $c(k\Delta t)$  is an amount of cash used to buy new assets, defined as

$$c(k\Delta t) = \phi q_0'(k\Delta t), \qquad (2.59)$$

 $q'_i(k\Delta t)$  is the temporary quantity of i - th assets after (potentially) selling some of them but before buying new ones at time  $t = k\Delta t$  and  $q'_0(k\Delta t)$  is the temporary amount of cash at that moment:

$$q'_{i}(k\Delta t) = q_{i} \Big( (k-1)\Delta t \Big) (1 - \psi \mathbb{1}_{i,d^{-}}(k\Delta t)),$$
(2.60)

$$q_{0}'(k\Delta t) = q_{0}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} S_{i}(k\Delta t)q_{i}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\psi\mathbb{1}_{i,d^{-}}^{-}(k\Delta t).$$
 (2.61)

 $\phi, \psi \in [0, 1]$  are called buy and sell factors respectively.

One can observe how RSI indicator generates buy and sell signals by looking at the example in Figs. 2.1c and 2.1d.

#### 2.5 Portfolio performance measures

The most basic measure of portfolio performance is its wealth, defined already in Definition 5. It simply represents the value of the portfolio, measured in units of cash. Although it is the most intuitive indicator of how the value of the portfolio changes, it has been noticed in numerous works that portfolio wealth is not a reliable measure of performance [41]. It suffers from few weaknesses. First of all, it is not invariant to the initial values of the assets the portfolio is composed of, whereas a good portfolio performance measure should be. Second — it does not properly reflect the *relative character* of investment's value in general. This relativity is associated with a fact that the measure of portfolio's performance should be dependent on its current value. For example - if the value of some portfolio grows by \$1, it is considered to be a much bigger change if it was a \$10 portfolio than if it would be a \$1 000 000 one, although the absolute gain is the same in both cases. Finally, the third issue is that a good portfolio performance measure should take into consideration the passage of time. The more time we give to our investment strategy, the better results it should present. All these three factors are addressed in a function that we call a *portfolio* growth, or logarithmic growth [29].

**Definition 26.** Growth of portfolio  $\mathcal{P}$  (or "the GoP", in short), denoted by  $g_{\mathcal{P}}(k\Delta t)$ , is a measure of portfolio performance given by

$$g_{\mathcal{P}}(t) = \frac{1}{t} \log \left( \frac{W_{\mathcal{P}}(t)}{W_{\mathcal{P}}(0)} \right)$$
(2.62)

This measure does not exhibit any of the weaknesses mentioned above. Since wealth of portfolio gets divided by its initial value — the measure is ultimately not dependent on it. Imposing the logarithm on the scaled portfolio value "flattens" the measure in its right end. Hence, more significant movements of portfolio wealth are needed to change the value of the measure by the same amount for big portfolios than for the smaller ones. Time dependence of an investment has also been captured. As the time passes and the value of t in the denominator gets bigger, the logarithm of the normalised portfolio wealth must increase with the similar rate in order not to lower the value of the whole measure.

The growth of wealth is a measure focusing on portfolio evolution in time. But, although the time is a natural variable along which we track changes in general, it is not the only one possible. Let us imagine an indexed set of M investment portfolios  $\{\mathcal{P}\}_{i=1}^{M}$ , which are similar to one another except for one characteristic feature which is different for each of those portfolios — let's call it  $\tau$ . If this characteristic feature is quantitative (possible to be expressed by a number) and if there is sufficiently many different values of it for different portfolios (ideally — each one of all M portfolios has a different value of  $\tau$ ) — it may provide another "dimension" along which we can observe the changes of values of portfolios involved and it could give us insights different to the ones obtained through time-oriented observations. Having a suitable set of investment portfolios  $\{\mathcal{P}\}_{i=1}^{M}$ , we can design a measure like that. We will call it a *characteristic measure*, as it shows the dynamics of a set of portfolios along some characteristic property  $\tau$ .

**Definition 27.** A characteristic measure  $\varphi(t, \tau)$  of a set of M portfolios  $\{\mathcal{P}\}_{i=1}^{M}$ , each characterised by a unique value of the portfolio's characteristic property  $\tau$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{P}_{i} = \mathcal{P}(\tau_{i})$ , for some value of  $\tau_{i} \in \{1, 2, \ldots, M\}$ , is given by

$$\varphi_{\mathcal{P}}(t,\tau) = g_{\mathcal{P}(\tau)}(t). \tag{2.63}$$

As we can see, the characteristic measure is exactly equivalent to growth of wealth, except it highlights the possibility of comparing several different portfolios (varying in the value of  $\tau$ ) at the same moment of time t. Since we prefer our measures to be one-dimensional (for easier plotting and analysis), we will often only be interested in the changes of the characteristic measure along with the second parameter  $\tau$  and just one, fixed point of time t. It would make sense for this point of time to be the maturity of the portfolio t = T, as the end of an investment is a natural moment for making comparisons. Hence, we state that  $\varphi_{\mathcal{P}}(\tau) = \varphi_{\mathcal{P}}(T, \tau) = g_{\mathcal{P}(\tau)}(T)$ .

Since there is a lot of features and qualities by which investment portfolios can differ from one another, it can also be the case that one will want to compare two sets of portfolios —  $\{\mathcal{P}\}_{i=1}^{M}$  and  $\{\mathcal{R}\}_{i=1}^{M}$ . In such case, we can formalise a measure of differences between two sets of portfolios — *a benchmark measure*.

**Definition 28.** A benchmark measure of a portfolio set  $\{\mathcal{P}\}_{i=1}^{M}$  against another portfolio set  $\{\mathcal{R}\}_{i=1}^{M}$ , denoted by  $\delta(t, \tau)$ , is given by

$$\delta_{\mathcal{P},\mathcal{R}}(t,\tau) = \varphi_{\mathcal{P}}(t,\tau) - \varphi_{\mathcal{R}}(t,\tau).$$
(2.64)

Similarly to the characteristic measure, dropping the time dimension in the notation simply means that involved measures are evaluated at t = T, i.e.  $\delta_{\mathcal{P},\mathcal{R}}(\tau) = \delta_{\mathcal{P},\mathcal{R}}(T,\tau) = \varphi_{\mathcal{P}}(\tau) - \varphi_{\mathcal{R}}(\tau)$ .

Also, similarly to portfolio wealth, if it is clear from the context which portfolios are measured, the subscripts denoting them can be dropped for clarity as well, giving us g(t) for the growth of wealth,  $\varphi(t,\tau)$  or  $\varphi(\tau)$  for the characteristic measure and  $\delta(t,\tau)$  or  $\delta(\tau)$  for the benchmark measure.
# 3 Empirical results under Heston market model

## 3.1 Importance of synthetic data and Monte-Carlostyle experiments

A big part of modern research related to methods of portfolio management focuses on testing obtained results based on real market data. Although it may seem justified and legitimate, studying financial markets only that way has some drawbacks as well. First of all, research which focuses on one particular market, stock, or even basket of stocks cannot be treated as fully universal. This is because any conclusions of such research are only fully applicable to this one particular class of assets which have been used to prove authors' claims. For that reason, in our work, we chose to focus on a different research methodology. Namely, we conducted a number of experiments in which we used synthetic data, i.e. asset price trajectories are neither prices of any real-life stocks nor any other financial instruments. Instead, they were simulated using a dedicated mathematical model. Thanks to that we were able to draw more general conclusions which can be applied to any market and any sets of assets to which our base model can be applied. Using the Monte Carlo framework [42] enabled us to generate arbitrary number of trajectories and average the results on. We eradicated the bias related to picking some particular assets from existing markets. Therefore, we consider our results to be more generic since they represent an average scenario of what may happen at any possible market in the world.

## 3.2 Basic terms assumptions for numerical experiments

The most important assumption that we make within all our numerical experiments is that the prices of assets do not depend on decisions a single investor makes. That means the character of trajectories  $S_i$  for any  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$  is fully random and modelled by a dedicated stochastic process, described in details in the next section. Therefore, the only way an investor can influence performance of their portfolio is by altering quantities  $q_i$  of the assets held. The other assumption, related to the first one, is that an investor is not able to alter the price of an asset itself by performing any market transaction. Admittedly, this is not always true in case of real markets, especially if we consider transactions performed by big market players like banks, mutual funds or hedge funds. However, for a single, individual investor, this does not need to be treated as a limitation as most of market participants operate within a range of financial means way too small to be able to significantly influence a typical stock market.

## 3.3 Heston model

Like we mentioned in section 3.2, we assume that a single investor can only watch the prices of assets randomly changing on the market, not being able to influence them. As a model describing the behaviour of the assets, we chose the *Heston model* [31].

**Definition 29.** Heston model is a mathematical model used for modelling the dynamics of prices of financial assets in time. It comprises of three stochastic differential equations

$$dS(t) = \mu S(t)dt + \sqrt{v(t)S(t)}dB^{S}(t), \qquad (3.1)$$

$$dv(t) = \kappa(\theta - v(t))dt + \sigma \sqrt{v(t)S(t)}dB^{v}(t), \qquad (3.2)$$

$$dB^{S}(t)dB^{v}(t) = \rho dt, \qquad (3.3)$$

and two initial conditions

$$S(0) = S_0 > 0, (3.4)$$

$$v(0) = v_0 > 0, (3.5)$$

where S is the price of the asset, v is the volatility process,  $B^S$  and  $B^v$  are Wiener processes and  $\mu, \kappa, \theta, \sigma, \rho$  are the parameters of the model, such that  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}, \kappa > 0, \theta > 0, \sigma > 0, \rho \in [-1, 1]$ . This model is often used as a description of the movement of an underlying assets while pricing derivative instruments, particularly options[43]. Heston model as well as some of its variants, are heavily studied not only in mathematics, but also in physics — and are often referred to as *diffusive diffusivity* models [44]. One can find examples of its applications in multiple branches of physics, including econophysics, where it often serves as a basic model e.g. for pricing [45] and forecasting [46] as well as in sociophysics, in combination with agent-based models [47].

As one can see, within Heston model, the price of a financial asset S(t) is considered to be a stochastic process which solves a system of stochastic differential equations, given by Eqs. (3.1)–(3.3) and initial conditions (3.4)–(3.5). The price process is built upon the value of  $\mu$  which is constant and the value of v(t) which is a stochastic process in and of itself (hence — the diffusive diffusivity term, often used by econophisicists).  $\mu$  is called a drift and it represents a general tendency of an asset to grow (if  $\mu > 0$ ) or fall (if  $\mu < 0$ ). On the other hand, v(t) represents the volatility of the asset and is actually modelled by a process known as CIR, originally introduced by Cox, Ingersoll and Ross to model the movement of interest rates [48]. One of the defining features of the CIR model is the so called *mean-reversion*. The value of the process generally oscillates around a long-term average  $\theta$ , randomly converging to and diverging from it with the rate of  $\kappa$ . A random factor of severity of those oscillations is reflected in the value of  $\sigma$ , which hence can be called "a volatility of a volatility". Thus, the Heston model, featuring volatility of an asset changing in time, appears to reflect the behaviour of the real-life markets well. In reality, we indeed observe periods of time when prices of assets do not move significantly (practitioners often refer to such behaviour as a *consolidation*), but another times prices of those very same assets fluctuate strongly, achieving e.g. daily return rates, which can be orders of magnitude greater than during the peaceful times [49]. Other, simpler models, like Geometric Brownian Motion, which is also frequently used for the purpose of describing prices of financial assets changing in time [43], are often not able to simulate such behaviour.

The actual randomness of the prices of assets and their volatility is achieved by including Wiener processes (also known as Brownian motion processes) [50], denoted by  $B^{S}(t)$  and  $B^{v}(t)$  respectively. The model also allows for the possibility that those two are correlated with instantaneous correlation  $\rho$ . The need for this feature in the model can also explained from the practical point of view as here seems to be an actual correlation between prices of assets and their volatility. It is usually observed to be negative — i.e. an increased volatility of a market usually occurs when prices drop, especially as a consequence of some kind of a market event, often related to some critical political or economical news. On the other hand, when the prices casually grow, lower market volatility can be observed [51]. Similarly as in case of classical (deterministic) differential equations, initial conditions for both S(t) and v(t) are required to complete the set-up of the model. For the Heston model,  $s_0$  represents the initial price of an asset at time t = 0, and  $v_0$  is the value of the market volatility at that point of time. Since, as mentioned earlier, the volatility process oscillates around the value of parameter  $\theta$ , for all our numerical experiments we assumed  $v_0 = \theta$ .

## 3.4 Merton-style jumps

Although the trajectories coming from the Heston model are continuous, the model itself can easily be extended to include discontinuities. The most common type of jumps which can be incorporated into the model is called *Merton log-normal jump* [52]. To add it, one needs to augment the equation (3.1) with an additional term.

**Definition 30.** Heston model with Merton-style jumps is a mathematical model used for modelling the dynamics of prices of financial assets in time. It comprises of three stochastic differential equations

$$dS(t) = \mu S(t)dt + \sqrt{v(t)}S(t)dB^{S}(t) + (e^{Z(t)} - 1)S(t)dq(t)$$
(3.6)

$$dv(t) = \kappa(\theta - v(t))dt + \sigma \sqrt{v(t)S(t)}dB^{v}(t), \qquad (3.7)$$

$$dB^{S}(t)dB^{v}(t) = \rho dt, \qquad (3.8)$$

and two initial conditions

$$S(0) = S_0 > 0, (3.9)$$

$$v(0) = v_0 > 0, \tag{3.10}$$

where S is the price of the asset, v is the volatility process,  $B^S$  and  $B^v$  are Wiener processes and  $\mu \in \kappa, \theta, \sigma, \rho$  are the parameters of the model, such that  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}, \kappa \in \mathbb{R}_+, \theta \in \mathbb{R}_+, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}_+, \rho \in [-1, 1], Z(t)$  is a series of i.i.d. normally distributed random variables with mean  $\mu^J$  and standard deviation  $\sigma^J$ , whereas q(t) is a Poisson counting process with constant intensity  $\lambda$ .

Comparing to the Definition 29 of the original Heston model, the only change in the updated definition is one added term in Eq. (3.6). It is responsible for the discontinuities in the price process S(t), called Merton-style jumps. They turn the Heston model into what is sometimes called a Bates model [53]. Although there is multitude of ways jumps can be incorporated into a continuous model, the one described by Merton is used particularly often and it has an easy real-life interpretation. Namely,  $e^{Z(t)}$  is the actual (absolute) rate of the difference between the price before the jump at time t and right after it, i.e.  $S(t-) \cdot e^{Z(t)} = S(t+)$ . So if for example, for a given  $t, e^{Z(t)} \approx 0.85$ , that means the stock experienced ~ 15% drop in value at that moment.

## 3.5 Model discretisation and simulation

As mentioned in section 2.2, in real-life we almost always work with the data in form of discrete series of values. Thus, in order to make the model applicable in practice, especially for the sake of computer simulations, one needs to discretise it, that is to rewrite the continuous (theoretical) equations in such a way that the values of the process are given in specific, equidistant points of time. The time discretisation should be consistent with the one we performed to define our portfolio management strategies. Thus, we split the time domain [0, T] into n short intervals, each of length  $\Delta t$ . Thus  $n \cdot \Delta t = T$ . To properly transform the SDEs of the model into this new time domain, a discretisation scheme is necessary. We used Euler-Maruyama discretisation for that purpose [54]. The stock price equation (3.1) of the regular Heston model can be discretised as

$$S(k\Delta t) - S\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) = \mu S\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\Delta t + S\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}\varepsilon^{S}(k\Delta t)\sqrt{\Delta t}, \quad (3.11)$$

where  $k \in \{1, \dots, n\}$  and  $\varepsilon^S$  is a series of n i.i.d. standard normal random variables.

To highlight the ratio between two consecutive values of the stock price, Eq. (3.11) is often re-written as

$$\frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t)} = \mu\Delta t + 1 + \sqrt{v((k-1)\Delta t)}\varepsilon^S(k\Delta t)\sqrt{\Delta t}.$$
(3.12)

The same discretisation scheme can be applied to the Eq. (3.2), to obtain:

$$v(k\Delta t) - v\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) = \kappa \left(\theta - v\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)\Big)\Delta t + \sigma \sqrt{v\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)}\varepsilon^v(k\Delta t)\sqrt{\Delta t}.$$
 (3.13)

If  $\rho = 0$ , then  $\varepsilon^v$  in the above formula is also a series of n i.i.d. standard normal random variables. However, if  $\rho \neq 0$ , then — to ensure the proper dependency between S and v — we take

$$\varepsilon^{v}(k\Delta t) = \rho \varepsilon^{S}(k\Delta t) + \sqrt{1 - \rho^{2}} \varepsilon^{add}(k\Delta t)$$
(3.14)

where  $\varepsilon^{add}$  is an additional series of *n* i.i.d. standard normal random variables, which are "mixed" with the ones from  $\varepsilon^{S}$  and hence — become dependent on them.

The equations of the discretised model can be directly used to simulate trajectories from the Heston model. To do that, one simply needs to fix  $s_0 = S(0)$  and  $v_0 = v(0)$ , generate two (possibly correlated) normally distributed series of random variables  $\varepsilon^S$ and  $\varepsilon^v$  and proceed with the generation of first  $v(k\Delta t)$  (as indicated by Eq. (3.13)) and finally — of  $S(k\Delta t)$  (as indicated by Eq. (3.11)) for  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ .

If needed, Merton style jumps can be added after simulating the regular Heston model. To this end, one should generate a random variable from the Poisson distribution with intensity  $\lambda T$ 

$$\nu \sim Poiss(\lambda T). \tag{3.15}$$

Then, a series of  $\nu$  random normal variables  $Z_1, Z_2, \ldots, Z_{\nu}$  should be generated, having mean  $\mu^J J$  and standard variation  $\sigma^J J$ . To incorporate them as jumps, one should also find positions for them, hence, another  $\nu$  random variables will be needed — this time from the uniform distribution on the interval [0, T].

$$u_i \sim \mathcal{U}(0, T), \text{ for } i \in \{1, 2, \dots, \nu\}$$
 (3.16)

However, these jump positions will not, with probability 1, land on our discrete grid. Hence, they need to be "snapped" to the nearest grid point, so that the jumps occur at the dicretised points of time  $k\Delta t, k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  too. This can be done, for example by calculating a series of  $k_i$ , which will indicate the ordinals of grid points where the jumps occur.

$$K(u_i) = k_i = \left[n \cdot \frac{u_i}{T}\right], \text{ for } i \in \{1, 2, \dots, \nu\}$$
 (3.17)

where  $[\cdot]$  is a function of rounding the number to the nearest integer (a "floor" function  $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$  or a "ceiling" function  $\lceil \cdot \rceil$  can also be used). Having calculated the actual jump positions on the grid, they should be placed on it

$$Z(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} Z_i & \text{if there is } i \in \{1, 2, \dots, \nu\} \text{ such that } k = k_i, \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

This is in order to make the "enumeration" of jumps and prices consistent. Hence, although values of  $Z(k\Delta t)$  for where  $k \neq k_i$  are set to 1, they could actually be anything as they will not be used anyway.

To incorporate the jumps into the trajectory, one puts

$$S^{J}(k\Delta t) = S(k\Delta t) \cdot \prod_{\{i:k_i \leq k\}} \exp\left(Z(k_i\Delta t)\right)$$
(3.19)

for  $k \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$  and  $i \in \{1, 2, \dots, \nu\}$ .

One of the assumptions of the discretised Merton-style jumps model is that there should be not more than one jump in one time step. In case this assumption is violated (i.e. for  $\{u_i, u_j\}, i \neq j$  there is  $K(u_i) = K(u_j)$ ), it is best to simply repeat the generation of all  $u_i$ -s, as this procedure is not very computationally expensive.

### **3.6** Numerical experiments and their results

This section is devoted to present the actual numerical experiments which have been conducted for the purpose of this work. Experiments have been split into groups and for each group a premise for the experiments in the group has been outlined. Each experiment has also been precisely described, including the actual reason of conducting it and what it meant to have provided (**Aim**), a step-by-step procedural description of how it was executed, for easier reproduction (**Procedure**), a conclusion or a list of conclusions that can be drawn from the experiment (**Observations**), a list of the values of parameters used to synthesise the data required for the experiment (**Simulation parameters**) and identifications of figures, on which the experiment results were visualised (**Figure references**). This style of describing numerical experiments has been designed by us to make it as easy as possible to follow the procedure and if necessary, to reproduce the results. Outcomes of all of the presented experiments have been published in our research articles [30, 32, 36].

#### 3.6.1 Comparison of balancing strategies

The first experiment was performed to compare various strategies related to portfolio rebalancing with each other and with the passive strategy. It also allowed us to compare our results against the ones presented in the work of Alper et al. [29], in which authors proved that the growth of wealth of the passive portfolio decays over time if the assets are modelled by the Geometric Brownian Motion. We were able to reproduce those results for the Heston model (in simulations), although we also note that the decay of the growth of wealth is a rather theoretical result, as it is very slow and the passive portfolio actually falls beneath the balanced ones only after  $\sim 20 - 30$  years (see Ref. [30] for further details).

#### Experiment 1.

**Aim**: Comparing balancing portfolios to the passive one, examining the impact of the length of investment.

#### Procedure:

- 1. Define the list of the values of portfolio maturities T to be examined.
- 2. Create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. Run five different portfolio management strategies on the market:
  - fully balanced strategy with no fees involved,
  - fully balanced strategy with fees involved,
  - periodically balanced strategy with fees involved,
  - partially balanced strategy with fees involved,
  - passive strategy.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect the results after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average the results across all Monte Carlo trials for each t.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for subsequent values of portfolio maturity.

#### Observations:

• Among the strategies utilising rebalancing, the fully-balanced portfolio performs best in the absence of the exchange fees and worst when they are involved. Partially- and periodically-rebalanced strategies both find themselves between those two extremes, regardless of the time of the investment.

- For short-term investments (T = 1, i.e. one-year portfolio, presented in Fig. 3.1), the passive portfolio acts almost identically as the fully-balanced portfolio in the absence of fees.
- For extremely long-term investments (T = 100, i.e. 100-years portfolio, presented in Fig. 3.3), the growth of wealth of the passive portfolio decreases visibly. After ~ 30 years from the portfolio set-up, the buy-and-hold strategy performs worse than all rebalance-related portfolios.

Simulation parameters:  $T \in \{1, 10, 100\}, \Delta t = 0.1, N = 8, s_0 = 1, \mu = 0.2, \kappa = 1.5, \theta = 0.5, \sigma = 0.1, \rho = -0.66, \alpha \in \{0, 0.03\}, m = 5, D = 0.2$ , Monte Carlo trials: 1000.



Figure references: 3.1 - 3.3.

Figure 3.1: Growth of various types of 1-year portfolios, with and without the exchange fees.



Figure 3.2: Growth of various types of 10-year portfolios, with and without the exchange fees.



Figure 3.3: Growth of various types of 100-year portfolios, with and without the exchange fees.

# 3.6.2 Optimal rebalance period and optimal rebalance coefficient

As demonstrated by Experiment 1, partially and periodically balanced portfolios seem to perform best in presence of transaction fees, especially for longer investment times. We decided to study what parameters of these portfolios maximise the growth of wealth of portfolio at the point where simulation terminates (i.e. at portfolio's maturity time T). It was natural to use the characteristic measure for that, as defined in Definition 27. For the partially balanced portfolio, the characteristic feature was the partial rebalance coefficient, i.e.  $\tau = D$ , for the periodically balanced one — the rebalance period,  $\tau = m$ . In both cases the level of transactions fees  $\alpha$  turned out to have crucial meaning when determining the optimal parameters.

#### Experiment 2.

**Aim**: Finding optimal parameters for partially balanced and periodically balanced portfolios in presence of transaction fees.

#### Procedure:

- 1. Define the list of values of the strategy parameter (partial rebalance coefficient D for partially balanced portfolios, period of rebalance m for periodically balanced ones) to be examined.
- 2. Create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. For a given strategy parameter, run three different portfolios on the market for three different levels of fees.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect  $\varphi(D)$  (for partially balanced portfolios) or  $\varphi(m)$  for periodically balanced portfolios) for each fee level after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average obtained values of  $\varphi(D)$  or  $\varphi(m)$  across all Monte Carlo trials for each fee level.

- 6. Repeat steps 3-5 for subsequent values of strategy parameters and collect the averaged value  $\varphi(D)$  or  $\varphi(m)$  for each value of D or m.
- 7. Repeat steps 2-6 for the other strategy parameter.

#### **Observations**:

- For periodically balanced portfolios (Fig. 3.4), the bigger the fees the larger is the value of m for which  $\varphi(m)$  attains maximum. This means that for bigger level of the fees, rebalancancing should be performed less frequently.
- For partially balanced portfolios (Fig. 3.5), the bigger the fees the smaller is the value of D for which  $\varphi(D)$  attains maximum. This means that for bigger level of the fees, the level of portfolio rebalancing should be smaller.
- The variability of  $\varphi(D)$  is much smaller across all levels of D than the variability of  $\varphi(m)$  across m, which results in much smoother curves for  $\varphi(D)$  than for  $\varphi(m)$ .

Simulation parameters: T = 10,  $\Delta t = 0.03$ , N = 2,  $s_0 = 1$ ,  $\mu = 0.125$ ,  $\kappa = 1.5$ ,  $\theta = 0.5$ ,  $\sigma = 0.1$ ,  $\rho = -0.66$ ,  $\alpha \in \{0.01, 0.03, 0.05\}$ ,  $m \in \{1, 2, \dots, 60\}$  or m = 1,  $D \in \{0, 0.01, 0.02, \dots, 1\}$  or D = 1, Monte Carlo trials: 1000. Figure references: 3.4, 3.5.



Figure 3.4: Final growth of portfolio (for t = T) in dependence of the period of rebalance.



Figure 3.5: Final growth of portfolio (for t = T) in dependence of the partial rebalance coefficient

In Experiment 2 we were analysing periodically balanced and partially balanced strategies separately, but both of those approaches can be merged into one strategy, according to Definition 14. Such strategy is then dependent on two equally important parameters — period of rebalance m and partial rebalance coefficient D. Hence, to best visualise it, a measure similar the characteristic measure would be useful, but generalised to be multi-dimensional. For this purpose specifically we introduce a multi-dimensional characteristic measure.

**Definition 31.** A multi-dimensional characteristic measure  $\varphi(t, \tau)$  of a set of M portfolios  $\{\mathcal{P}\}_{i=1}^{M}$ , each characterised by a unique L-dimensional vector of values of the portfolio's characteristic properties  $\boldsymbol{\tau} = (\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_L)$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{P}_i = \mathcal{P}(\boldsymbol{\tau}_i)$ , for a particular vector of values  $\boldsymbol{\tau}_i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, M\}$ , is given by

$$\varphi(t, \boldsymbol{\tau}) = g_{\mathcal{P}(\boldsymbol{\tau})}(t). \tag{3.20}$$

By definition  $\varphi(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = \varphi(T, \boldsymbol{\tau}).$ 

Using  $\boldsymbol{\tau} = (m, D)$  as a vector of characteristic properties for periodically and partially balanced portfolio, we get  $\varphi(m, D)$  as a multi-dimensional characteristic measure for this strategy and we can use it for visualising the performance of this strategy in two dimensions.

#### Experiment 3.

**Aim**: Analysis performance of the periodically and partially balanced portfolio. **Procedure**:

- 1. Define the list of values of the period of rebalance m and partial rebalance coefficient D to be examined.
- 2. Create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. For a given combination of the values of m and D, run the periodically and partially balanced portfolio on a simulated market.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect  $\varphi(m, D)$  after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average obtained values of  $\varphi(m, D)$  across all Monte Carlo trials.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for subsequent combination of (m, D) and collect the averaged value  $\varphi(m, D)$ .

#### **Observations**:

- The bigger the rebalance period, the bigger the optimal partial rebalance coefficient for which the optimal portfolio growth is attained. This means that if one rebalances a portfolio less frequently, he should rebalance in bigger part.
- For a fixed period of rebalance, there is usually a whole spectrum of partial rebalance coefficients for which portfolios present similar performance.
- For all periods of rebalance, portfolios with partial rebalance coefficients close to 0 perform worse than the ones close to 1. This effect is getting stronger for bigger periods of rebalance.
- The passive portfolio, when the partial rebalance coefficient is 0, performs the worst across the board.
- Variability across periods of rebalance is bigger than across partial rebalance coefficients, which can be seen as horizontal "stripes" on the heat map.

Simulation parameters: T = 10,  $\Delta t = 0.02$ , N = 2,  $s_0 = 1$ ,  $\mu = 0.125$ ,  $\kappa = 1.5$ ,  $\theta = 0.5$ ,  $\sigma = 0.1$ ,  $\rho = -0.66$ ,  $\alpha = 1$ ,  $m \in \{1, 2, ..., 50\}$ ,  $D \in \{0, 0.02, 0.04, ..., 1\}$ , Monte Carlo trials: 1000.

#### Figure references: 3.6.



Figure 3.6: Final growth (for t = T) of partially and periodically balanced portfolios in dependence of the period of rebalance and the partial rebalance coefficient.

#### **3.6.3** Impact of cash on portfolio performance

An important question investors often ask themselves is whether they should leave some money aside in form of cash for future investments and — if so — how much should they leave. Not investing all possessed money into stocks at the very first moment has some immediate advantages. It reduces the risk, as the more money remains inside a portfolio, the more stable it becomes. This is because cash, unlike stocks, does not change its value in time in our model. Moreover, leaving some cash aside allows an investor to react when an opportunity on the market appears, without the need to make any changes in the existing portfolio stock arrangement. On the other hand however, holding cash in a portfolio diminishes the amount of money earned from an actual investment, which seems to be especially dissatisfying in case of a very successful initial choice of the risky assets.

Experiment 4 illustrates the impact of storing cash in an investment portfolio. The intuition here would be that a portfolio with left-away money will perform worse compared to an analogous portfolio with all money resources invested in stocks. Rather interestingly however, it turns out it might not always be the case. We found out that stocks' drift is the decisive parameter here.

#### Experiment 4.

**Aim**: Analysing the impact of cash in a passive investment portfolio in two special cases.

#### Procedure:

- 1. Define two separate values of  $\mu$  to be examined.
- 2. For a given value of  $\mu$  create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. Run two different portfolio management strategies on the market, one with cash and one without cash.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect the results in form of the growth of wealth for both portfolios after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average the results across all Monte Carlo trials for both portfolios for each t.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for the other value of  $\mu$ .

#### **Observations**:

• Portfolio without cash demonstrated better performance for small value of  $\mu$  (Fig. 3.8), but it performed worse if  $\mu$  was bigger (Fig. 3.7).

Simulation parameters:  $T = 2, \Delta t = 2^{-8}, N = 8, s_0 = 100, \mu \in \{0.001, 0.1\}, \kappa = 1.22, \theta = 0.06, \sigma = 0.56, \rho = -0.66, \alpha = 0, q_0(0) \in \{0, 200\},$  Monte Carlo trials: 1000.

Figure references: 3.7, 3.8.



Figure 3.7: Portfolio growth in time for a passive portfolio and a portfolio with a cash contribution (approx. 28.5%) for  $\mu = 0.1$ .



Figure 3.8: Portfolio growth in time for a passive portfolio and a portfolio with a cash contribution (approx. 28.5%) for  $\mu = 0.001$ .

Results of Experiment 4 are special cases of a more general analysis, presented in Experiment 5. It uses the benchmark measure, with the characteristic property being the drift parameter  $\mu$ . The measure is set to calculate the difference between a passive portfolio with some amount of cash in it and a classical passive portfolio, in which all money is invested in the risky assets (also called an *all-in portfolio*).

#### Experiment 5.

**Aim**: General analysis of the impact of cash in a passive investment portfolio using benchmark measure.

#### Procedure:

- 1. Define the list of values of the drift parameter  $\mu$  and five non-zero portfolio cash levels to be examined.
- 2. For a given drift parameter  $\mu$  create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. For a simulated market, run six different portfolios one cashless and five containing various amounts of cash, as defined in step 1.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect  $\delta(\mu)$  for each combination of cashand cashless portfolio after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average obtained values of  $\delta(\mu)$  across all Monte Carlo trials for each portfolio pair.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for subsequent values of  $\mu$  and collect the averaged value  $\delta(\mu)$  for each portfolio pair.

#### **Observations**:

• Portfolios consisting mostly of cash perform worse if assets have a strong tendency to grow (big values of  $\mu$ ), but they give the best results in case of lower growth potential (small values of  $\mu$ ).

Simulation parameters:  $T = 2, \Delta t = 2^{-8}, N = 5, s_0 = 100, \mu \in \{0.001, 0.002, \dots, 0.05\}, \kappa = 1.22, \theta = 0.06, \sigma = 0.56, \rho = -0.66, \alpha = 0, q_0(0) \in \{0, 100, 250, 500, 750, 1000\},$ Monte Carlo trials: 1000.

Figure references: 3.9.



Figure 3.9: Impact of the amount of cash stored in the portfolio for various values of the drift parameter  $\mu$ .

#### **3.6.4** Performance of MACD- and RSI-driven portfolios

In the previous section we have demonstrated how parameter  $\mu$  of the Heston model is related to the impact of cash on portfolio performance. It turns out that the drift is a critical parameter not only when it comes to the cash inclusion, but it also has a huge impact on the effectiveness of strategies based on using technical analysis indicators like MACD or RSI. In Experiment 6, the behaviour of passive and MACD-driven portfolios has been compared for different values of the drift  $\mu$ .

#### Experiment 6.

**Aim**: Analysis the MACD-driven portfolio in two special cases. **Procedure**:

- 1. Define two separate values of  $\mu$  to be examined.
- 2. For a given value of  $\mu$ , create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. Run two portfolios on a simulated market one MACD-driven and one passive.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect the results in form of the growth of wealth for both portfolios after each Monte Carlo trial.

- 5. Average the results across all Monte Carlo trials for both portfolios, for each t.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for the other value of  $\mu$ .

#### **Observations**:

- For a small value of  $\mu$  (Fig. 3.10), both strategies perform similarly throughout the lifetime of the portfolio and at the end they give very similar results.
- For a bigger value of  $\mu$  (Fig. 3.11), it becomes clear that the portfolio managed by an MACD strategy outperforms a simple buy-and-hold strategy.

Simulation parameters:  $T = 2, \Delta t = 2^{-8}, N = 10, s_0 = 100, \mu \in \{0.005, 0.1\}$  $\kappa = 1.2, \theta = 0.05, \sigma = 0.5, \rho = -0.66, \alpha = 0, q_0(0) = 200, p = 12, q = 26, s = 9, \psi = 0.5, \phi = 0.5$ , Monte Carlo trials: 1000.

Figure references: 3.10, 3.11.



Figure 3.10: Portfolio growth in time for a passive portfolio and a MACD portfolio for  $\mu = 0.005$ .



Figure 3.11: Portfolio growth in time for a passive portfolio and a MACD portfolio for  $\mu = 0.1$ .

One could expect that it would be the case for strategies utilising various indicators, that the bigger the drift, the better the results. It turns out, that the behaviour can be different depending on the indicator. Experiment 7 allows to see the results for RSI.

#### Experiment 7.

**Aim**: Analysis the RSI-driven portfolio in two special cases. **Procedure**:

- 1. Define two separate values of  $\mu$  to be examined.
- 2. For a given value of  $\mu$  create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. Run two portfolios on a simulated market one RSI-driven and one passive.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect the results in form of the growth of wealth for both portfolios after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average the results across all Monte Carlo trials for both portfolios, for each t.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for the other value of  $\mu$ .

#### **Observations**:

- For the smaller value of  $\mu$  (Fig. 3.12), both strategies perform similarly throughout the lifetime of the portfolio, however, at the end, the passive portfolio achieves better results.
- For the bigger value of  $\mu$  (Fig. 3.13) portfolio managed by the RSI strategy performs drastically worse than the buy-and-hold strategy.

Simulation parameters:  $T = 2, \Delta t = 2^{-8}, N = 10, s_0 = 100, \mu \in \{0.1, 0.5\}, \kappa = 1.2, \theta = 0.05, \sigma = 0.5, \rho = -0.66, \alpha = 0, q_0(0) = 200, s = 14, d^- = 30, d^+ = 70, \psi = 0.5, \phi = 0.5$ , Monte Carlo trials: 1000. Figure references: 3.12, 3.13.



Figure 3.12: Portfolio growth in time for a passive portfolio and a RSI portfolio for  $\mu = 0.1$ .



Figure 3.13: Portfolio growth in time for a passive portfolio and a RSI portfolio for  $\mu = 0.5$ .

Similarly to the cash inclusion experiment, also here we have performed an experiment with a benchmark measure, using differences between actively-managed portfolios and the passive one in dependence of the drift parameter  $\mu$ . Also, for the previous experiment we used MACD and RSI strategies in their basic form, but one should keep in mind that their definitions (Definition 19 and 25, respectively) allow for customising the way they work. One of the possible customisations is changing the values of buy and sell factors ( $\phi$  and  $\psi$ , respectively). The default values of those indicators are both 0.5. Changing them may result in changes of portfolio performance. This effect has been studied in Experiment 8.

#### Experiment 8.

**Aim**: General analysis of trading-indicator-driven strategies using benchmark measure.

#### Procedure:

- 1. Define the list of values of the drift parameter  $\mu$  and two sets of values for the buy and sell factors ( $\phi$  and  $\psi$  respectively) to be examined.
- 2. For a given value of  $\mu$  create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.

- 3. For a simulated market, run three different portfolios passive, MACD-driven and RSI-driven for a given selection of  $\phi$  and  $\psi$ .
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect  $\delta(\mu)$  for each combination of an indicator-driven and passive portfolio after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average obtained values of  $\delta(\mu)$  across all Monte Carlo trials for both portfolio pairs.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for subsequent values of  $\mu$  and collect the averaged value  $\delta(\mu)$  for each portfolio pair.
- 7. Repeat steps 2-6 for the other set of values for  $\phi$  and  $\psi$ .

#### **Observations**:

- For the default values of  $\phi = 0.5$  and  $\psi = 0.5$  (Fig. 3.14), MACD performs best for portfolios where assets are characterised by a big value of the drift  $\mu$ , whereas RSI turns out to be useful in the interval of values of  $\mu$  between 0 and 0.1. However, even then it does not really outperform a passive portfolio.
- For the altered values of  $\phi = 0.8$  and  $\psi = 0.1$  (Fig. 3.15), the MACD strategy performed better for bigger values of  $\mu$  and worse for lower values of  $\mu$ , compared to standard values of buy and sell indicators for this type of strategy. The RSI strategy exacerbated slightly for smaller values of  $\mu$  and improved considerably for bigger  $\mu$ , compared to standard values of  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  for this type of strategy.
- MACD and RSI present similar results for the altered values of  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  (lines on the plot in Fig. 3.15 are very close to one another).

Simulation parameters:  $T = 2, \Delta t = 2^{-8}, N = 5, s_0 = 100, \mu \in \{-0.2, -0.198, \dots, 0.2\}, \kappa = 1.2, \theta = 0.05, \sigma = 0.5, \rho = -0.66, \alpha = 0, q_0(0) = 200, p = 12, q = 26, s_{MACD} = 9, s_{RSI} = 14, d^- = 30, d^+ = 70, \psi \in \{0.1, 0.5\}, \phi \in \{0.5, 0.8\}, Monte Carlo trials: 1000.$ 

Figure references: 3.14, 3.15.



Figure 3.14: Difference between MACD and RSI portfolios and a passive portfolio for various values of the drift parameter  $\mu$  and buy and sell factors equal to  $\phi = 0.5$  and  $\psi = 0.5$ , respectively.



Figure 3.15: Difference between MACD and RSI portfolios and a passive portfolio for various values of the drift parameter  $\mu$  and buy and sell factors equal to  $\phi = 0.8$  and  $\psi = 0.1$ , respectively.

Experiments 6–8 demonstrate clearly, that performance of MACD- and RSI-based management strategies depends a lot on the growth potential of the assets making up the portfolio, reflected in the value of the drift parameter  $\mu$ . Indeed, the drift is the main factor to be considered when the original Heston model is used for simulating the assets. If however jumps are included in the prices, two more parameters will affect the growth potential of the assets involved, i.e. the intensity of jumps  $\lambda$ , and the mean size of the jumps  $\mu^J$ . Their impact on portfolio performance is the subject of Experiment 9.

#### Experiment 9.

**Aim**: Analysis of trading-indicator-driven strategies in presence of price jumps, using benchmark measure.

#### Procedure:

- 1. Define the list of values of the drift parameter  $\mu$ , three values of the jump intensity parameter  $\lambda$  and three values of the average jump size  $\mu^J$  to be examined.
- 2. For a given value of  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda$  and  $\mu^J$ , create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. For a simulated market, run three different portfolios passive, MACD-driven and RSI-driven.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect  $\varphi(\mu)$  for each of the three portfolios after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average obtained values of  $\varphi(\mu)$  for each of the three portfolios across all Monte Carlo trials.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for subsequent value of  $\lambda$  or  $\mu^{J}$ .

#### **Observations**:

- For a fixed  $\mu$  and  $\mu^J$ , the bigger the value of  $\lambda$ , the worse is the performance of indicator-based strategies compared to the passive one (Fig. 3.16).
- Similar effect observed for fixed  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$  and increasing  $\mu^{J}$  (Fig. 3.17).
- The three parameters together  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda$  and  $\mu^{J}$  collectively decide upon the "growth potential" of the asset and hence have direct impact on performance of all studied portfolio management strategies.

Simulation parameters: T = 10,  $\Delta t = 0.02$ , N = 2,  $s_0 = 1$ ,  $\mu \in \{-0.2, -0.198, \dots, 0.5\}$ ,  $\kappa = 1.2, \theta = 0.05, \sigma = 0.5, \rho = -0.66, \lambda \in \{0, 1, 2\}$  or  $\lambda = 1$ ,  $\mu^J = -0.25$  or  $\mu^J \in -0.2, -0.6, -1, \sigma^J = 0.1 \alpha = 0, q_0(0) = 200, p = 12, q = 26, s_{MACD} = 9, s_{RSI} = 14, d^- = 30, d^+ = 70, \psi = 0.1, \phi = 0.8$ , Monte Carlo trials: 1000. Figure references: 3.16, 3.17.



Figure 3.16: Growth of portfolio for different investment strategies and different values of  $\lambda$ .



Figure 3.17: Growth of portfolio for different investment strategies and different values of  $\mu^{J}$ .

By now, we have demonstrated through several experiments that the choice of the optimal portfolio management strategy depends on the character of assets which we want to invest in. Thus, we decided to create a map of applicability of active and passive portfolio management strategies. In order for the map to have a normalised values, we introduce another measure for comparing portfolios to one another, called ASPI — Active Strategy Performance Indicator. It can be thought of as a variation of the benchmark measure. For a pair of two portfolios consisting of the assets of a similar character, one actively managed and one passive, ASPI simply indicates whether the difference between their terminal growth of wealth is positive.

**Definition 32.** For a set of M actively-managed portfolios  $\{\mathcal{P}\}_{i=1}^{M}$ , each characterised by a unique *L*-dimensional vector of values of the portfolio's characteristic

properties  $\boldsymbol{\tau} = (\tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_L)$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{P}_i = \mathcal{P}(\boldsymbol{\tau}_i)$ , for a particular vector of values  $\boldsymbol{\tau}_i \in \{1, 2, \dots, M\}$ , and another set of M passive portfolios  $\{\mathcal{R}\}_{i=1}^M$  with the same characteristic properties, the ASPI measure is an indicator given by

$$ASPI_{\mathcal{P},\mathcal{R}}(\boldsymbol{\tau}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \delta_{\mathcal{P},\mathcal{R}}(\boldsymbol{\tau}) > 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3.21)

Of course, trajectories of the asset prices are random so it is possible, that one pair of portfolios will result in ASPI equal to 1, and another one, generated for the same vector of characteristic properties  $\boldsymbol{\tau}$ , will give us the ASPI measure of 0. Hence, to get a full picture, as always, averaging is needed. Experiment 10 provides more details about how to do it, taking  $\boldsymbol{\tau} = (\mu, \lambda)$ . We used MACD strategy as a model of an actively managed portfolio, since, as Fig. 3.15 suggests, both active strategies perform similarly in some configurations.

#### Experiment 10.

**Aim**: General analysis of the trading indicator-driven strategies in presence of price jumps using ASPI measure.

#### Procedure:

- 1. Define the list of values of the drift parameter  $\mu$  and the jump intensity parameter  $\lambda$ .
- 2. For a given combination of the values of  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$ , create a synthetic market by simulating asset price trajectories.
- 3. For a simulated market, run two portfolios MACD-driven (as activelymanaged) and passive.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 independently and collect  $ASPI(\mu, \lambda)$  after each Monte Carlo trial.
- 5. Average obtained values of  $ASPI(\mu, \lambda)$  across all Monte Carlo trials.
- 6. Repeat steps 2-5 for all combinations of  $(\mu, \lambda)$ .

#### **Observations**:

• Darker colours on the heat map (Fig. 3.18), associated with higher frequency of jumps and smaller drift, are an indication that it is better to apply a passive strategy. On the other hand, bright hues represent the regions where active strategies should be preferable. Hence, the map can be used to select proper strategy for assets of certain  $(\mu, \lambda)$  specification.

• A significant portion of the map is occupied by colours from the red-to-purple spectrum, which indicate assets where the results where not equivocal. Hence — the division between when each of the strategies should be used is not clear-cut and for some assets active and passive strategies perform (on average) similarly.

Simulation parameters: T = 10,  $\Delta t = 0.02$ , N = 2,  $s_0 = 1$ ,  $\mu \in \{0.0, 0.02, \dots, 0.5\}$ ,  $\kappa = 1.2, \theta = 0.05, \sigma = 0.5, \rho = -0.66, \lambda \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots, 10\}, \mu^J = 0.05, \alpha = 0, q_0(0) = 200, p = 12, q = 26, s_{MACD} = 9, \psi = 0.1, \phi = 0.8$ , Monte Carlo trials: 1000. Figure references: 3.18.

Having the map allows for selecting the optimal strategy, but the problem which persists is identifying the values of parameters  $\mu$ ,  $\lambda$  and  $\mu^J$  for an asset<sup>1</sup> which an investor wants to invest in. We address this problem in Chapter 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It only makes sense to use the map if the identified value of the mean jump size parameter is similar to the one which we used in simulation. If it differs significantly, another map should be crafted, with the proper value of this parameter.



Figure 3.18: A heat map presenting the average value of the ASPI measure. Darker colours (values closer to 0) are an indication that it is better to use a passive strategy, brighter colours (values closer to 1) — that the active strategy is preferable.

# 4 Estimation scheme for the Heston model

## 4.1 Estimation techniques

The problem of parameter estimation of mathematical models applied in the fields of economy and finance is of critical importance. In order to use most of the models, like the ones for pricing financial instruments or finding an optimal investment portfolio, one needs to provide values of the model parameters which are often not easily available.

Over the last decades, mathematical models describing the behaviour of observed market quantities (e.g. prices of assets, interest rates etc.) became more and more complicated. Those complications were introduced in order to better reflect the dynamics of those quantities. The problem is that more complicated models typically use more parameters, which need to be estimated and moreover, standard estimation techniques, like Maximum Likelihood Estimators (MLE) or Generalised Method of Moments (GMM), fail very often for them [34]. Fortunately, modern research in the field of financial mathematics and econometrics revealed an approach which seems to be especially effective where others are not. It is the Bayesian approach [33]. Among methods based on Bayesian inference, the ones using Monte Carlo Markov Chains (MCMC) are the most prominent for complex financial models [34]. In this group of methods one assumes some distribution for the value of each of the parameters of a model (called the *prior distribution*) and uses it, along with the data, to produce what is called the *posterior distribution* — samples from which we can treat as possible values of our parameters (Ref. [34] provides a great overview of MCMC methods used for financial mathematics).

The MCMC concept can be applied in multiple ways and by utilising various algorithms, including Gibbs sampling or the Metropolis-Hastings algorithm [55]. Both are generally very useful for effective estimation of "scalar" parameters, i.e. those parameters which only have one, constant number as their value. However, some models assume that the directly observable dynamic quantities (e.g. prices) are dependent on other dynamically changing properties of the model. The latter are often called latent variables or state variables. In case of the Heston model for example, the volatility process is a state variable. Estimation of state variables is inherently more complicated than of the regular parameters, as each value which was observed directly was partly determined by value of the state variable at that particular point of time. A very elegant solution to this complication is a methodology called particle filtering. It is based on the idea of creating a collection of values (called particles) which are meant to represent the distribution of the latent variable at a given point of time. Each particle then has a probability assigned to it, which serves as a measure of how likely it is that a given value of the state variable generated the outcome observed at a given moment of time. For an overview of particle filtering methods, we recommend Refs. [56] and [57].

Methods outlined above have been studied quite thoroughly for the past years. However, the research articles and literature focuses on the theoretical aspect of the estimation process and is often lacking precision and concreteness. In this part of the dissertation we address this nuisance by presenting a complete set-up for parameter estimation of the Heston model, using only the prices of the basic instrument one wants to study using the model (an index, a stock, a commodity<sup>1</sup> etc.). We provide the estimation process for both the pure Heston model and its extended version, with the inclusion of Merton-style jumps (discontinuities), which is known as the Bates model. In the following section, 4.2, we describe in detail how to obtain the posterior distributions to get the values of the parameters of the Heston model. We also provide a detailed description of the particle filtering scheme needed to reconstruct the volatility process. The whole procedure is summarised in an easy-to-follow pseudocode algorithm. An exemplary estimation as well as the analysis of the factors that impact the quality of the estimation in general is presented in section 4.3.

The entirety of content of this chapter has been adapted from our research article about the estimation process of the Heston model [35].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We point out explicitly that the estimation scheme only uses the data about the basic instrument, as we consider this a significant value added to the presented method. This is because the Heston model is often used in the context of derivative instruments and prices of those derivatives, often difficult to obtain, are a necessary input to the estimation procedure. This is not the case however for the scheme that we compiled.

## 4.2 Estimation framework

Estimation of the Heston model consists of two major parts. First one is estimating scalar parameters, i.e.  $\mu$ ,  $\kappa$ ,  $\theta$ ,  $\sigma$  and  $\rho$ , for the basic version of the model and additionally  $\lambda$ ,  $\mu^J$  and  $\sigma^J$  after inclusion of jumps. The second part is estimating the state variable — volatility v(t). For all the estimation procedures we used the Bayesian inference methodology, in particular Monte Carlo Markov Chains (for parameter estimation within the base model) and particle filtering (for estimation of the volatility as well as jump-related parameters).

#### 4.2.1 Regular Heston model

In order to estimate the Heston model with no jumps, we will mainly be using the principles of Bayesian inference, and in particular — Bayesian regression [58].

#### Estimation of $\mu$

We will start by finding a way to estimate the drift parameter  $\mu$ . First, Eq. (3.12) will be transformed to a regression form. To this end, we will introduce several additional variables. The first,  $\eta$ , is defined as

$$\eta = \mu \Delta t + 1. \tag{4.1}$$

Let R(t) be a series of ratios between consecutive prices of assets,

$$R(k\Delta t) = \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t))},$$
(4.2)

for  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ . Taking the above definitions into consideration, Eq. (3.12) can be rewritten as:

$$R(k\Delta t) = \eta + \sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}\varepsilon^{S}(k\Delta t)\sqrt{\Delta t}.$$
(4.3)

Now, let us divide both sides of this equation by  $\sqrt{v((k-1)\Delta t)}\sqrt{\Delta t}$ , as  $\Delta t$  is known and, at this stage, we consider v(t) to be known too. Let us now introduce another two new variables:  $y^{S}(t)$ ,
$$y^{S}(k\Delta t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}\sqrt{\Delta t}}R(k\Delta t)$$
(4.4)

and  $x^{S}(t)$  as

$$x^{S}(k\Delta t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}\sqrt{\Delta t}}.$$
(4.5)

Inserting them into Eq. (4.3) gives

$$y^{S}(k\Delta t) = \eta x^{S}(k\Delta t) + \varepsilon^{S}(k\Delta t).$$
(4.6)

The last expression has the form of a linear regression with  $y^{S}(t)$  explained by  $x^{S}(t)$ . We want to treat it with the Bayesian regression framework. To this end we first collect all discretised values of  $y^{S}(t)$  and  $x^{S}(t)$  into *n*-element column vectors —  $\mathbf{y}^{S}$  and  $\mathbf{x}^{S}$  respectively,

$$\mathbf{y}^{S} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta t}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{R(\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v(0)}} & \frac{R(2\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v(\Delta t)}} & \cdots & \frac{R(n\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v((n-1)\Delta t)}} \end{bmatrix}', \tag{4.7}$$

$$\mathbf{x}^{S} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta t}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{v(0)}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{v(\Delta t)}} & \cdots & \frac{1}{\sqrt{v\left((n-1)\Delta t\right)}} \end{bmatrix}', \tag{4.8}$$

where the prime symbol is used for the transpose.

Assuming a prior distribution for  $\eta$  to be normal with mean  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  and standard deviation  $\sigma_0^{\eta}$ , it follows from the Bayesian regression general results [58] that the posterior distribution for  $\eta$  will also be normal with precision (inverse of variance)  $\tau^{\eta}$ , which can be calculated as

$$\tau^{\eta} = \left(\boldsymbol{x}^{S}\right)' \cdot \boldsymbol{x}^{S} + \tau_{0}^{\eta}.$$
(4.9)

Here,  $\tau_0^{\eta}$  is precision of the prior distribution, i.e.  $\tau_0^{\eta} = \frac{1}{(\sigma_0^{\eta})^2}$ . Mean  $\mu^{\eta}$  of the posterior distribution is of the following form

$$\mu^{\eta} = \frac{1}{\tau^{\eta}} \left( \tau_0^{\eta} \mu_0^{\eta} + \left( \boldsymbol{x}^S \right)' \cdot \boldsymbol{x}^S \hat{\eta} \right), \qquad (4.10)$$

where  $\hat{\eta}$  is a classical, ordinary-lest-squares (OLS) estimator of  $\eta$ , i.e.

$$\hat{\eta} = \left( \left( \boldsymbol{x}^{S} \right)' \cdot \boldsymbol{x}^{S} \right)^{-1} \left( \boldsymbol{x}^{S} \right)' \boldsymbol{y}^{S}.$$
(4.11)

Having a realisation of  $\eta$ , we can quickly turn it into a realisation of the  $\mu$  parameter itself by a simple transform, inverse to Eq. (4.1)

**Corollary 1.** In the *i*-th iteration of the MCMC estimation procedure, the estimate of parameter  $\mu$  is obtained via

$$\mu_i = \frac{\eta_i - 1}{\Delta t},\tag{4.12}$$

where  $\eta_i$  is a sample from the posterior distribution, generated as

$$\eta_i \sim \mathcal{N}\left(\mu^{\eta}, \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tau^{\eta}}}\right).$$
(4.13)

#### Estimation of $\kappa$ , $\theta$ and $\sigma$

In order to estimate parameters related to the volatility process, i.e.  $\kappa$ ,  $\theta$  and  $\sigma$ , we will do a similar exercise but this time using the volatility process. Let us first rewrite Eq. (3.13) as

$$v(k\Delta t) = \kappa\theta\Delta t + (1 - \kappa\Delta t)v\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) + \sigma\sqrt{v\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)}\varepsilon^v(k\Delta t)\sqrt{\Delta t}.$$
 (4.14)

Now let us introduce two new parameters,

$$\beta_1 = \kappa \theta \Delta t \tag{4.15}$$

and

$$\beta_2 = 1 - \kappa \Delta t. \tag{4.16}$$

From Eqs. (4.14)-(4.16) we get

$$v(k\Delta t) = \beta_1 + \beta_2 v \left( (k-1)\Delta t \right) + \sigma \sqrt{v \left( (k-1)\Delta t \right)} \varepsilon^v(k\Delta t) \sqrt{\Delta t}.$$
(4.17)

In a fashion similar to the equation for the stock price, we can rewrite this last expression as

$$\frac{v(k\Delta t)}{\sqrt{\Delta t}\sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}} = \frac{\beta_1}{\sqrt{\Delta t}\sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}} + \frac{\beta_2 v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}{\sqrt{\Delta t}\sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}} + \sigma \varepsilon^v(k\Delta t). \quad (4.18)$$

Introducing vectors

$$\boldsymbol{\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \beta_2 \end{bmatrix}, \tag{4.19}$$

$$\mathbf{y}^{v} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta t}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{v(2\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v(\Delta t)}} & \frac{v(3\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v(2\Delta t)}} & \cdots & \frac{v(n\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v((n-1)\Delta t)}} \end{bmatrix}', \qquad (4.20)$$

$$\mathbf{x}_{1}^{v} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta t}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{v(\Delta t)}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{v(2\Delta t)}} & \cdots & \frac{1}{\sqrt{v((n-1)\Delta t)}} \end{bmatrix}', \qquad (4.21)$$

$$\mathbf{x}_{2}^{v} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta t}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{v(\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v(\Delta t)}} & \frac{v(2\Delta t)}{\sqrt{v(2\Delta t)}} & \cdots & \frac{v\left((n-1)\Delta t\right)}{\sqrt{v\left((n-1)\Delta t\right)}} \end{bmatrix}' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta t}} \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{v(\Delta t)} & \sqrt{v(2\Delta t)} & \cdots & \sqrt{v\left((n-1)\Delta t\right)} \end{bmatrix}', \quad (4.22)$$

allows us to rewrite the original volatility equation in form of a linear regression

$$\mathbf{y}^{v} = \mathbf{X}^{v}\boldsymbol{\beta} + \sigma\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{v},\tag{4.23}$$

where

$$\mathbf{X}^{v} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}_{1}^{v} & \mathbf{x}_{2}^{v} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.24)

and

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{v} = \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon^{v}(\Delta t) & \varepsilon^{v}(2\Delta t) & \dots & \varepsilon^{v}((n-1)\Delta t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.25)

Using the formulas for Bayesian regression and assuming multivariate (2-dimensional) normal prior for  $\beta$  with mean vector  $\mu_0^{\beta}$  and precision matrix  $\Lambda_0^{\beta}$ , we get the conjugate posterior distribution being also multivariate normal with precision matrix given by

$$\boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{\beta} = (\boldsymbol{X}^{v})' \cdot \boldsymbol{X}^{v} + \boldsymbol{\Lambda}_{0}^{\beta}$$
(4.26)

and mean vector given by

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}^{\beta} = \left(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{\beta}\right)^{-1} \left(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{\beta}_{0}\boldsymbol{\mu}^{\beta}_{0} + (\boldsymbol{X}^{v})' \cdot \boldsymbol{X}^{v} \hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}\right)$$
(4.27)

where, again,  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$  is a standard OLS estimator of  $\boldsymbol{\beta}$ ,

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} = \left( (\boldsymbol{X}^{v})' \cdot \boldsymbol{X}^{v} \right)^{-1} (\boldsymbol{X}^{v})' \boldsymbol{y}^{v}.$$
(4.28)

Obtaining realisations of the actual parameters is very easy — one simply needs to inverse the equations defining  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  (Eqs. (4.15) and (4.16), respectively).

**Corollary 2.** In the *i*-th iteration of the MCMC estimation procedure, the estimate of the parameter  $\kappa$  is obtained via

$$\kappa_i = \frac{1 - \beta_i[2]}{\Delta t},\tag{4.29}$$

and the estimate of the parameter  $\theta$  — via

$$\theta_i = \frac{\beta_i[1]}{\kappa_i \Delta t},\tag{4.30}$$

where  $\beta_i[1]$  and  $\beta_i[2]$  are respectively the first and the second component of the  $\beta_i$  vector, which is a sample from the multi-variate posterior distribution

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}_i \sim \mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{\mu}^{\beta}, (\sigma_i)^2 (\boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{\beta})^{-1}). \tag{4.31}$$

It is worth noting that the realisation of  $\sigma$  appears in the equation (4.31), but we have not showed how to calculate it yet. This can be done, however, using prior and posterior parameters for  $\beta$ , which we are also using for  $\kappa$  and  $\theta$ . The most common approach for estimating  $\sigma$  is assuming the inverse-gamma prior distribution for  $\sigma^2$ . If the parameters of the prior distribution are  $a_0^{\sigma}$  and  $b_0^{\sigma}$ , then the conjugate posterior distribution is also inverse gamma, with new parameters  $a^{\sigma}$  and  $b^{\sigma}$ , where

$$a^{\sigma} = a_0^{\sigma} + \frac{n}{2} \tag{4.32}$$

and

$$b^{\sigma} = b_0^{\sigma} + \frac{1}{2} \left( \left( \boldsymbol{y}^{v} \right)' \cdot \boldsymbol{y}^{v} + \left( \boldsymbol{\mu}_0^{\beta} \right)' \boldsymbol{\Lambda}_0^{\beta} \boldsymbol{\mu}_0^{\beta} - \left( \boldsymbol{\mu}^{\beta} \right)' \boldsymbol{\Lambda}^{\beta} \boldsymbol{\mu}^{\beta} \right).$$
(4.33)

**Corollary 3.** In the *i*-th iteration of the MCMC estimation procedure, the estimate of parameter  $\sigma^2$  is obtained via

$$(\sigma_i)^2 \sim \mathcal{IG}\left(a^{\sigma}, b^{\sigma}\right) \tag{4.34}$$

#### Estimation of $\rho$

For the estimation of  $\rho$  we follow the approach presented in Ref. [59]. We first define the residuals for the stock price equation

$$e_1^{\rho}(k\Delta t) = \frac{R(k\Delta t) - \mu_i \Delta t - 1}{\sqrt{\Delta t} \sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}}$$
(4.35)

and for the volatility equation,

$$e_{2}^{\rho}(k\Delta t) = \frac{v(k\Delta t) - v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right) - \kappa_{i}\left(\theta_{i} - v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\right)\Delta t}{\sqrt{\Delta t}\sqrt{v\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}}.$$
(4.36)

By calculating those residuals we try to retrieve the error terms from the Eqs. (3.1) and  $(3.2) - \varepsilon^{S}(t)$  and  $\sigma \varepsilon^{v}(t)$  respectively, as we know they are tied with each other by a relationship given by equation (3.14). Taking this fact into consideration, we end up with the following equation

$$e_2^{\rho}(k\Delta t) = \sigma \rho e_1^{\rho}(k\Delta t) + \sigma \sqrt{1 - \rho^2} \varepsilon^{add}(k\Delta t).$$
(4.37)

We now introduce two new variables, traditionally called  $\psi = \sigma \rho$  and  $\omega = \sigma^2 (1 - \rho^2)$ . It is not difficult to deduce that the relationship between  $\rho$  and a newly-introduced variables is

$$\rho = \frac{\psi}{\sqrt{\psi^2 + \omega}} \tag{4.38}$$

Then, Eq. (4.37) becomes

$$e_2^{\rho}(k\Delta t) = \psi e_1^{\rho}(k\Delta t) + \sqrt{\omega}\varepsilon^{add}(k\Delta t), \qquad (4.39)$$

which is again, a linear regression of  $e_2^{\rho}(t)$  on  $e_1^{\rho}$ . Thus, we can use the exact same estimation scheme as in the previous case<sup>2</sup>. We first collect the values of  $e_1^{\rho}$  and  $e_2^{\rho}$  in two *n*-element vectors:

$$\mathbf{e}_{1}^{\rho} = \begin{bmatrix} e_{1}^{\rho}(\Delta t) & e_{1}^{\rho}(2\Delta t) & \dots & e_{1}^{\rho}(n\Delta t) \end{bmatrix}', \qquad (4.40)$$

$$\mathbf{e}_{2}^{\rho} = \begin{bmatrix} e_{2}^{\rho}(\Delta t) & e_{2}^{\rho}(2\Delta t) & \dots & e_{2}^{\rho}(n\Delta t) \end{bmatrix}'.$$
(4.41)

Then we appose both vectors, forming into an n-by-2 matrix:

$$\mathbf{e}^{\rho} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}_{1}^{\rho} & \mathbf{e}_{2}^{\rho} \end{bmatrix} \tag{4.42}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Although the way of obtaining the coefficients through Bayesian regression is exactly the same, the notation differs slightly compared to the ones presented above, as we wanted to stay consistent with our main reference related to the estimation of  $\rho$  — Ref. [59]

Next, we define a 2-by-2 matrix  $\mathbf{A}^{\rho}$  as

$$\mathbf{A}^{\rho} = (\mathbf{e}^{\rho})' \cdot \mathbf{e}^{\rho} \tag{4.43}$$

If we assume a normal prior for  $\psi$  with mean  $\mu_0^{\psi}$  and precision  $\tau_0^{\psi}$ , the posterior distribution for  $\psi$  is going to also be normal with mean  $\mu^{\psi}$  given by

$$\mu^{\psi} = \frac{\mathbf{A}_{12}^{\rho} + \mu_0^{\psi} \tau_0^{\psi}}{\mathbf{A}_{11}^{\rho} + \tau_0^{\psi}} \tag{4.44}$$

and precision  $\tau^{\psi}$  equal to

$$\tau^{\psi} = \mathbf{A}_{11}^{\rho} + \tau_0^{\psi}, \tag{4.45}$$

where  $\mathbf{A}_{11}^{\rho}$ ,  $\mathbf{A}_{12}^{\rho}$  and  $\mathbf{A}_{22}^{\rho}$  are the elements of the matrix  $\mathbf{A}^{\rho}$  on positions (1, 1), (1, 2) and (2, 2) respectively.

Also, if we assume an inverse-gamma prior for  $\omega$ , with parameters  $a_0^{\omega}$  and  $b_0^{\omega}$ , the posterior distribution for  $\omega$  is also going to be inverse-gamma with parameters  $a^{\omega}$  and  $b^{\omega}$ , calculated as

$$a^{\omega} = a_0^{\omega} + \frac{n}{2} \tag{4.46}$$

and

$$b^{\omega} = b_0^{\omega} + \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbf{A}_{22}^{\rho} - \frac{(\mathbf{A}_{12}^{\rho})^2}{\mathbf{A}_{11}^{\rho}} \right).$$
(4.47)

**Corollary 4.** In the *i*-th iteration of the MCMC estimation procedure, the estimate of parameter  $\rho$  is obtained via

$$\rho_i = \frac{\psi_i}{\sqrt{\psi_i^2 + \omega_i}} \tag{4.48}$$

where  $\omega_i$  is a sample from the inverse-gamma posterior distribution, generated as:

$$\omega_i \sim \mathcal{IG}\left(a^{\omega}, b^{\omega}\right),\tag{4.49}$$

whereas  $\psi_i$  is a sample from the normal posterior distribution, generated as

$$\psi_i \sim \mathcal{N}\left(\mu^{\psi}, \frac{\sqrt{\omega_i}}{\sqrt{\tau^{\psi}}}\right).$$
(4.50)

#### Estimation of v(t) – particle filtering

For all estimation procedures shown in the previous sections, we assumed v(t) to be known. However, in practice, the volatility is not a directly observable quantity, it is "hidden" in the process of prices, which we have access to. Hence — we need a way to extract volatility from the price process and particle filtering methodology is extremely useful for that purpose. We will therefore outline the particle filtering logic, namely the SIR algorithm, which we will utilise to get the volatility estimator designed for Heston model specifically. More in-depth review of particle filtering can be found in Refs. [56] and [57]. Here we follow a procedure similar to the one presented in Ref [60].

We start by fixing the number of particles G. In each moment of time  $t = k\Delta t$ , we will produce G particles, which are going to represent various possible values of the volatility at that point of time. By averaging out all of those particles we will get an estimate of the true volatility v(t). The process of creating the particles is as follows: at the time t = 0, we create G initial particles, all with the initial value of the volatility, which we assume to be the long term average  $\theta$ . Denoting each of the particles by  $V_i$ , for  $j \in \{1, 2, \ldots G\}$ , we have

$$V_i(0) = \theta_i. \tag{4.51}$$

For any subsequent moment of time except the last one, i.e  $t = k\Delta t, k \notin \{0, n\}$ , we define three sequences of size G.  $\varepsilon_j$  will be a series of independent, standard normal random variables

$$\varepsilon_j(k\Delta t) \sim \mathcal{N}(0,1)$$
. (4.52)

The series  $z_j$  contains residuals from the stock price process, where the past values of volatility are replaced by the values of the particles from the previous time step

$$z_j(k\Delta t) = \frac{R(k\Delta t) - \mu_i \Delta t - 1}{\sqrt{\Delta t} \sqrt{V_j \left((k-1)\Delta t\right)}}.$$
(4.53)

And finally the series  $w_j$ , which incorporates the possible dependency between the stock process and the volatility particles

$$w_j(k\Delta t) = z_j(k\Delta t)\rho_i + \varepsilon_j(k\Delta t)\sqrt{1 - (\rho_i)^2}.$$
(4.54)

Having all that, the candidates for the new particles  $\tilde{V}_j$  are created as follows

$$\widetilde{V}_{j}(k\Delta t) = V_{j}\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big) + \kappa_{i}\left(\theta_{i} - V_{j}\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)\Big)\Delta t + \sigma_{i}\sqrt{\Delta t}\sqrt{V_{j}\Big((k-1)\Delta t\Big)}w_{j}.$$
 (4.55)

Those candidates are also often called raw particles, to differentiate them from refined particles, which will be used for the actual volatility estimation. In order for the raw particle to become a refined one, it must meet certain conditions. First of all, since it is meant to represent the volatility, which is a positive quantity, each candidate for a particle must be positive too. Once it is ascertained that all the generated raw particles are positive, they are assigned a value of a measure based on how probable it is that such value of the volatility would generate the return that has actually been observed. This measure —  $\widetilde{W}_j$  — is defined to be a value of a normal distribution PDF function designed specifically for this purpose<sup>3</sup>

$$\widetilde{W}_{j}(k\Delta t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\widetilde{V}_{j}(k\Delta t)\Delta t}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \frac{\left(R\left((k+1)\Delta t\right) - \mu_{i}\Delta t - 1\right)^{2}}{\widetilde{V}_{j}(k\Delta t)\Delta t}\right).$$
(4.56)

To be able to treat the values of the proposed measure along with the values of particles as a proper probability distribution on its own, we normalise them, so that their sum is equal to 1,

$$\breve{W}_j(k\Delta t) = \widetilde{W}_j(k\Delta t) \left(\sum_{j=1}^G \widetilde{W}_j(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1}.$$
(4.57)

Now, we combine the particles and their respective probabilities, forming twoelement vectors  $\mathbf{U}_i$ 

$$\mathbf{U}_{j}(k\Delta t) = \left(\widetilde{V}_{j}(k\Delta t), \breve{W}_{j}(k\Delta t)\right).$$
(4.58)

In order to get the refined particles we should now sample from the probability distribution described by the event-probability pairs outlined in Eq. (4.58). One of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Equation (4.56) is the reason we cannot run this procedure for k = n, as we would not be able to obtain  $R((n+1)\Delta t)$ , since the last available value is  $R(n\Delta t)$ .

the easiest method to do it is through inverse transform sampling. To use this method — the values of particles need to be sorted in an ascending order. Mathematically speaking, we create another sequence and call it  $\tilde{V}_j^{sort}$ , ensuring that the following conditions are all met:

1. the particle with the smallest value will be the first in the new sequence, i.e.

$$\widetilde{V}_1^{sort}(k\Delta t) = \min_{j \in \{1,2,\dots,G\}} \{\widetilde{V}_j(k\Delta t)\},\tag{4.59}$$

2. the particle with the biggest value will be the last in the new sequence, i.e.

$$\widetilde{V}_G^{sort}(k\Delta t) = \max_{j \in \{1,2,\dots,G\}} \{ \widetilde{V}_j(k\Delta t) \},$$
(4.60)

3. for any  $j \in \{2, 3, \ldots, G-1\}$  we will have

$$\widetilde{V}_{j-1}^{sort}(k\Delta t) < \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}(k\Delta t) < \widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}(k\Delta t).$$
(4.61)

We also want to keep track of the probabilities of our sorted particles, so we order the probabilities in the very same way (apply the same permutation as we applied to  $\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}$ ). We can mathematically define this new order as another probability sequence  $\tilde{W}_{j}^{sort}$ ,

$$\breve{W}_{j}^{sort}(k\Delta t) = \breve{W}_{m}(k\Delta t) \text{ for } m \text{ such that } \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}(k\Delta t) \in \mathbf{U}_{m}(k\Delta t)$$
(4.62)

Sequences  $\tilde{V}_j(k\Delta t)$  and  $\tilde{W}_j(k\Delta t)$  can now be used to define the CDF function of the distribution described by Eq. (4.58):

$$F_{\mathbf{U}}(v) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \leqslant \tilde{V}_{1}^{sort}, \\ \sum_{m=1}^{j} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort}(k\Delta t) & \text{if } v \in (\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}] \\ & \text{for } j \in \{1, 2, 3, \dots, G-1\}, \\ 1 & \text{if } v > \tilde{V}_{G}^{sort}. \end{cases}$$
(4.63)

This function indeed can be used for the inverse transform sampling. However, since the distribution is discrete, all the refined particles will have the same values as the raw ones — just the proportions will be changed (the exact same raw particle can be drawn several times, if it has probability bigger than others). To address this problem, we propose a different distribution to sample from. Similarly to the

original one the marginal particles (i.e. extreme in terms of value),  $\tilde{V}_1^{sort}$  and  $\tilde{V}_G^{sort}$ , will be the edges of the support of our new distribution. The CDF function of this distribution is given by the formula below (time labels have been dropped for the sake of legibility, as all variables are evaluated at  $t = k\Delta t$ ):

$$F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v \leqslant \tilde{V}_{1}^{sort} \\ \frac{v - \tilde{V}_{1}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{2}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{1}^{sort}} \left( \breve{W}_{1}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{2}^{sort} \right) & \text{if } v \in (\tilde{V}_{1}^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{2}^{sort}] \\ \left( \sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort} \right) + \\ \frac{v - \tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort} \right) & \text{if } v \in (\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}] \\ \int_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} \right) + \\ \frac{v - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{G}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \breve{W}_{G}^{sort} \right) & \text{if } v \in (\tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{G}^{sort}] \\ 1 & \text{if } v > \tilde{V}_{G}^{sort} \end{cases}$$
(4.64)

The advantage of the CDF function outlined in the Eq. (4.64), compared to the one in Eq. (4.63) is that the former one is continuous.

**Proposition 3.** The CDF function, presented in Eq. (4.64) is continuous.

*Proof.* The function is piece-wise linear and hence — continuous in the inside of every interval formed by the neighbouring sorted particles, i.e. for every  $v \in (\tilde{V}_j^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort})$  for  $j \in \{1, 2, 3, \ldots, G-1\}$ , as well as for  $v < \tilde{V}_1^{sort}$  (where it's 0) and  $v > \tilde{V}_G^{sort}$  (where it's 1). Thus, the only places when continuity needs to be verified are the exact values of particles, where the one line segment ends and another begins, i.e.  $v \in \{\tilde{V}_G^{sort} : j \in \{1, 2, 3, \ldots, G\}\}$ . Therefore

• for  $v = \widetilde{V}_1^{sort}$ 

$$\begin{split} F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v-) &= 0, \\ F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v+) &= \frac{\tilde{V}_1^{sort} - \tilde{V}_1^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_2^{sort} - \tilde{V}_1^{sort}} \left( \breve{W}_1^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_2^{sort} \right) = \frac{0}{\tilde{V}_2^{sort} - \tilde{V}_1^{sort}} \left( \breve{W}_1^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_2^{sort} \right) = 0 \\ \text{hence } F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v-) &= F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v+) = F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v); \end{split}$$

• for 
$$v = \tilde{V}_2^{sort}$$
  

$$F_{\mathbf{U}}^c(v-) = \frac{\tilde{V}_2^{sort} - \tilde{V}_1^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_2^{sort} - \tilde{V}_1^{sort}} \left( \breve{W}_1^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_2^{sort} \right) = \left( \breve{W}_1^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_2^{sort} \right),$$

$$F_{\mathbf{U}}^c(v+) = \left( \sum_{m=1}^1 \breve{W}_m^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_j^{sort} \right) + \frac{\tilde{V}_2^{sort} - \tilde{V}_2^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_3^{sort} - \tilde{V}_2^{sort}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_2^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_3^{sort} \right) = \left( \breve{W}_1^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_2^{sort} \right),$$

hence  $F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v-) = F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v+) = F^c_{\mathbf{U}}(v);$ 

• for 
$$v = \tilde{V}_j^{sort}, j \in \{2, 3, \dots, G-2\}$$

$$\begin{split} F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v-) &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort}\right) + \frac{\widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) = \\ & \left(\sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort}\right), \\ F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v+) &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort}\right) + \frac{\widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) = \\ & \left(\sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort}\right), \end{split}$$

hence  $F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v-) = F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v+) = F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v);$ for  $v = \widetilde{V}^{sort}$ 

• for 
$$v = V_{G-1}^{sort}$$

$$\begin{split} F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v-) &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-1-1} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) + \frac{\tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{G-1+1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1+1}^{sort}\right) = \\ &\left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) + \frac{0}{\tilde{V}_{G}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G}^{sort}\right) = \\ &\left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) \\ F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v+) &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) + \frac{\tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{G}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \breve{W}_{G}^{sort}\right) = \\ &\left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) + \frac{\tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{G}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \breve{W}_{G}^{sort}\right) = \\ &\left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) \end{split}$$

hence  $F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v-) = F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v+) = F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v);$ 

• for  $v = \tilde{V}_G^{sort}$ 

$$\begin{split} F^{c}_{\mathbf{U}}(v-) &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) + \frac{\widetilde{V}_{G}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}}{\widetilde{V}_{G}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \breve{W}_{G}^{sort}\right) = \\ & \left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \breve{W}_{G}^{sort}\right) = \\ & \left(\sum_{m=1}^{G-2} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \breve{W}_{G-1}^{sort} + \breve{W}_{G}^{sort}\right) = \sum_{m=1}^{G} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} = 1, \\ F^{c}_{\mathbf{U}}(v-) = 1, \end{split}$$

hence  $F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v-) = F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v+) = F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v);$ 

As demonstrated above, the left-side and right-side limits have the same values in all the points in which the function could potentially not be continuous. Thus, we conclude it is continuous.  $\hfill\square$ 

A visual comparison between the CDF functions of the discrete and continuous distributions can be seen in Fig. 4.1. On the plot, one can observe how the ends of the linear parts get connected to each other.

Continuous CDF function and hence — continuous distribution of the refined particles — is surely an improvement, as the possibility that any two of the refined particles, sampled from this distribution, will have the same value is equal to 0. However, it is critical that the improved distribution is "close" to the original one. The following theorem demonstrates that the impact of the change we introduced diminishes with the increasing number of particles.



Figure 4.1: Visualisation of the process of resampling particles according to their probabilities. Values of raw particles are the places, where the empirical cumulative ditribution function (ECDF in short) jumps and each jump size represents probability of a respective raw particle. The Connected CDF is a continuous modification of the ECDF, build according to the formula (4.64). In order to resample, a uniform random variable u is generated and then its inverse through the Connected CDF function becomes a new, resampled particle —  $V_i$ .

**Theorem 3.** The difference between the distribution characterised by Eq. (4.63) and Eq. (4.64) approaches zero as the number of particles increases to infinity, i.e.

$$\lim_{G \to \infty} F_{\mathbf{U}}^c(v) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(v) = 0, \qquad (4.65)$$

for any value of v > 0.

*Proof.* Looking at the way of sourcing raw particles (Eq. (4.55)) we see that, conditionally on the value of  $V_j((k-1)\Delta t)$ ,  $\kappa_i$ ,  $\theta_i$ ,  $\sigma_i$  and  $R(k\Delta t)$ , the distribution of  $\tilde{V}_j$  is normal and considering a raw particle will only be accepted if it is positive —

we conclude that the support of the distribution of  $\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}$  is the entire positive ray of the real line. Hence — for sufficiently large G we can assume, with no loss of generality, that for any choice of v > 0, it will fall into an interval  $(\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort})$  for  $j \in \{2, 3, \ldots, G-1\}$  (i.e. not into the first one  $(\tilde{V}_{1}^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{2}^{sort})$  and not into the last one  $(\tilde{V}_{G-1}^{sort}, \tilde{V}_{G}^{sort})$ ). Knowing that, we have

$$\begin{split} F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(v) &= \left(\sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort}\right) + \\ & \frac{v - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) - \sum_{m=1}^{j} \breve{W}_{m}^{sort} = \\ & \frac{v - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \breve{W}_{j}^{sort}. \end{split}$$

Now, let us look at the factor  $\frac{v - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}$ . It is linear in v and for  $v \in (\widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}, \widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort})$ , its value is bounded by 0 (when  $v = \widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}$ ) and 1 (when  $v = \widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}$ ). Thus,  $F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(v)$ , is bounded between

$$\begin{split} F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}) = & \frac{\tilde{V}_{j}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} = \\ & \frac{0}{\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} = \\ & -\frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}) = & \frac{\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}}{\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort} - \tilde{V}_{j}^{sort}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} = \\ & \left(\frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} + \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j}^{sort} = \\ & \frac{1}{2}\breve{W}_{j+1}^{sort}. \end{split}$$

According to Eq. (4.57),  $\check{W}_j$  is a ratio of a value of the function given by Eq. (4.56) evaluated at a particular  $\tilde{V}_j$  and the sum of the values of this function evaluated at all the  $\tilde{V}_j$ -s. Therefore, it becomes clear that that as long as the function given

in Eq. (4.56) is bounded, increasing number of particles lead to diminishing the value of the ratio denoted by  $\breve{W}_j$ . We thus conclude that for any  $j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, G\}$ ,  $\lim_{G\to\infty} \breve{W}_j = 0$  and  $\lim_{G\to\infty} \breve{W}_j^{sort} = 0$  (as this sequence has the same values, just ordered differently).

Therefore, since we have

$$F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(\widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(\widetilde{V}_{j}^{sort}) \leqslant F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(v) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(v) \leqslant F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}(\widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(\widetilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort})$$

and

$$\lim_{G \to \infty} F_{\mathbf{U}}^c(\tilde{V}_j^{sort}) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(\tilde{V}_j^{sort}) = 0,$$
$$\lim_{G \to \infty} F_{\mathbf{U}}^c(\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(\tilde{V}_{j+1}^{sort}) = 0,$$

by the squeeze theorem, it must hold that

$$\lim_{G \to \infty} F_{\mathbf{U}}^c(v) - F_{\mathbf{U}}(v) = 0$$

The refined particles can be generated by drawing from the distribution given by  $F_{\mathbf{U}}^{c}$ . As mentioned earlier, this can be achieved easily using the inverse transform method.

$$V_j(k\Delta t) \sim F_{\mathbf{U}}^c. \tag{4.66}$$

After following the described procedure for each  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n-1\}$ , we can specify the actual estimate of the volatility process as the mean of "refined" particles.

$$v(k\Delta t) = \frac{1}{G} \sum_{j=1}^{G} V_j(k\Delta t).$$
(4.67)

For k = n, we can simply assume  $v(n\Delta t) = v((n-1)\Delta t)$ , which should not have any tangible negative impact on any procedures using the v(t) estimate for sufficiently dense time discretisation grid.

#### 4.2.2 Heston model with jumps

The above estimation framework can be used with minor changes to also estimate Heston model with jumps. The model's SDE is defined in Eq. (3.6). Below we present the changes to the procedure allowing for the estimation of jumps. This novel approach to jumps was presented for the first time in Ref. [35].

After incorporation of jumps, changes are needed particularly in the particle filtering part of the estimation procedure. The particles need to be created not only for various possible values of volatility  $V_j(t)$ , but also for a possibility of a jump in that particular moment of time —  $J_j(t)$  — and size of that jump —  $Z_j(t)$ . So one can now think of a particle as of a triple  $(V_j, J_j, Z_j)$ . Generating raw values for  $J_j$ and  $Z_j$  is easy — for each  $j \in \{0, 1, \ldots, G\}$ ,  $J_j$  is simply a random variable from a Bernoulli distribution with parameter  $\lambda^{th}$ ,

$$\widetilde{J}_{i}(k\Delta t) \sim \mathcal{B}(\lambda^{th}).$$
 (4.68)

Parameter  $\lambda^{th} \in [0, 1)$  can be thought of as a "threshold" value i.e. a proportion of the number of particles which encode the occurrence of a jump to all the particles. If the number of jumps is expected to be significant, it is good to increase the value of  $\lambda^{th}$ , hence increasing the number of particles suggesting the jump in each step.

Raw particles for  $Z_j$  are simply independent normal random variables with mean  $\mu_0^J$  and standard deviation  $\sigma_0^J$ , which depict our prior beliefs about the size and variance of the jumps

$$\widetilde{Z}_{i}(k\Delta t) \sim \mathcal{N}(\mu_{0}^{J}, \sigma_{0}^{J}).$$
(4.69)

Assigning probabilities to the particles is different as well, since the normal PDF function which we use is different when there is a jump. Hence, equation (4.56) needs to be updated to

$$\widetilde{W}_{j}(k\Delta t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\widetilde{V}_{j}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\Delta t}} \times \\ \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\left(R(k\Delta t)-\mu_{i}\Delta t-1\right)^{2}}{\widetilde{V}_{j}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\Delta t}\right) & \text{if } \widetilde{J}_{j} = 0 \\ \frac{1}{\exp\left(\widetilde{Z}_{j}(k\Delta t)\right)\sqrt{2\pi\widetilde{V}_{j}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\Delta t}} \times \\ \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\frac{\left(R(k\Delta t)-\exp\left(\widetilde{Z}_{j}(k\Delta t)\right)(\mu_{i}\Delta t+1)\right)^{2}}{\exp\left(2\widetilde{Z}_{j}(k\Delta t)\right)\widetilde{V}_{j}\left((k-1)\Delta t\right)\Delta t}\right) & \text{if } \widetilde{J}_{j} = 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(4.70)$$

We then normalise  $\widetilde{W}_j$  so that it sums to 1, thus obtaining  $\breve{W}_j$ , and resample  $\widetilde{V}_j$  according to this normalised probability, exactly as in the case with no jumps. However, this measure needs to also be used to resample  $\widetilde{Z}_j$ , as now raw particles do not only consist of a single value,  $\widetilde{V}_j$ , but the 3-element vector  $(\widetilde{V}_j, \widetilde{Z}_j, \widetilde{J}_j)$ . Resampling is exactly analogous — we need to sort the values of  $\widetilde{Z}_j$  and reorder  $\breve{W}_j$  in the exact same way, put the elements of those two reordered series into two-element vectors  $\mathbf{U}'_i$ , build the connected CDF function  $F_{\mathbf{U}'}^c$  and sample refined particles from it

$$Z_j(k\Delta t) \sim F^c_{\mathbf{U}'}.\tag{4.71}$$

Finally, for the estimate of  $\lambda$ , for each  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  one needs to sum the cumulative value of all particles declaring a jump. That way we will get a probability that a jump took place at the time  $t = k\Delta t$ ,

$$\lambda(k\Delta t) = \sum_{j=1}^{G} J_j(k\Delta t) \breve{W}_j(k\Delta t).$$
(4.72)

To get the actual estimate of  $\lambda$  one needs to average  $\lambda(t)$  across all time points obtained for different values of k,

$$\lambda_i = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda(k\Delta t). \tag{4.73}$$

Similarly, to obtain the estimate of  $\mu^J$  and  $\sigma^J$ , for each k one needs to first calculate the average size of a jump from the refined particles

$$Z(k\Delta t) = \frac{1}{G} \sum_{j=1}^{G} Z_j(k\Delta t)$$
(4.74)

and then calculate the mean and standard deviation of the results, weighed by the probability of a jump at time moment t indicated by  $\lambda(t)$ . For the weighted mean of the jumps we get

$$\mu_i^J = \left(\sum_{k=1}^n Z(k\Delta t)\lambda(k\Delta t)\right) \left(\sum_{k=1}^n \lambda(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1}$$
(4.75)

and for the standard deviation:

$$\sigma_i^J = \sqrt{\left(\sum_{k=1}^n \lambda(k\Delta t) \left(Z(k\Delta t) - \mu_i^J\right)^2\right) \left(\frac{n-1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n \lambda(k\Delta t)\right)^{-1}}.$$
 (4.76)

The presence of jumps also influences the estimation of other parameters — some of the procedures presented in the previous subsection are not fully correct, as jumps added to the stock price will additionally increase or — more likely — decrease the returns. To improve that, a correction of the definitions of R(t) is needed in order to neutralise the impact of jumps on the parameters. In other words, Eq. (4.2) should be replaced with

$$r(k\Delta t) = \frac{S^J(k\Delta t)}{S^J((k-1)\Delta t)} \left(1 - \lambda(k\Delta t) \left(1 - \exp\left(-Z(k\Delta t)\right)\right)\right)$$
(4.77)

**Proposition 4.** Assume that jumps appearing in the price trajectory are Mertonstyle (as described in sections 3.4 and 3.5), there is  $\nu$  of them. Moreover, assume the estimate  $\lambda(k\Delta t)$  provides fully accurate information about an occurrence of a jump at time  $t = k\Delta t$  and the estimate  $Z(k\Delta t)$  — about the size of a jump at that point of time (if there was one). Then returns defined by equation (4.77) are equivalent to the ones defined by (4.2), i.e

$$r(k\Delta t) = R(k\Delta t)$$

for  $k \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ .

*Proof.* From Eq. (3.19) we know how jumps appear in the price trajectory

$$S^{J}(k\Delta t) = S(k\Delta t) \cdot \prod_{\{i:k_i \leq k\}} \exp\left(Z(k_i\Delta t)\right).$$

,

Therefore, the ratio between two neighbouring values of  $S^J$  is

$$\frac{S^{J}(k\Delta t)}{S^{J}((k-1)\Delta t))} = \begin{cases} \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t)} \cdot \exp\left(Z(k\Delta t)\right) & \text{if there is } i \in \{1, 2, \dots, \nu\} \\ & \text{such that } k = k_i, \\ \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t))} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.78)$$

The condition in the upper variant of the function in Eq. (4.78) simply means that here was a jump at  $t = k\Delta t$ . If there is a jump, the accurate  $\lambda(k\Delta t)$  should be equal to 1. In such case, plugging Eq. (4.78) into Eq. (4.77), we get

$$r(k\Delta t) = \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t))} \cdot \exp\left(Z(k\Delta t)\right) \cdot \left(1 - 1 \cdot \left(1 - \exp\left(-Z(k\Delta t)\right)\right)\right) = \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t))} \cdot \exp\left(Z(k\Delta t)\right) \cdot \left(1 - 1 + \exp\left(-Z(k\Delta t)\right)\right) = \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t))} \cdot \exp\left(Z(k\Delta t)\right) \cdot \exp\left(-Z(k\Delta t)\right) = \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t))} = R(k\Delta t)$$

If, however, there was no jump at  $t = k\Delta t$ , we have

$$r(k\Delta t) = \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t)} \left( 1 - 0 \cdot \left( 1 - \exp\left( -Z(k\Delta t) \right) \right) \right) = \frac{S(k\Delta t)}{S((k-1)\Delta t)} = R(k\Delta t)$$

Therefore, we have proved that in both cases (for k where there was a jump and where there was not) it holds that

$$r(k\Delta t) = R(k\Delta t).$$

For trajectories for which we expect presence of jumps, using r(t) instead of R(t) makes the jumps disappear (see Fig. 4.2) and the estimation of the parameters of the model can be carried out as shown before.



Figure 4.2: Comparison of returns for a process with jumps calculated based on formula (4.2) (blue line) and (4.77) (orange line). It can be clearly seen that the jumps have been "neutralised" in the latter case.

#### 4.2.3 Estimation procedure

The Bayesian estimation framework presented above relies of several parameters for the prior distributions that cannot be calculated within the procedure itself. They are often referred to as metaparameters. For example, for the estimation of the  $\mu$ parameter, values of two metaparameters are required —  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  and  $\tau_0^{\eta}$  (see Eqs. (4.9) and (4.10)). They should reflect our preexisting beliefs regarding the parameter, which we are trying to estimate —  $\mu$  in this case. Let us say that for a given trajectory of the Heston model process, we assume the value of  $\mu$  to be around 0.5. What values should we than choose for the metaparameters? First of all, we need to note that  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  and  $\tau_0^{\eta}$  are not the parameters of the prior distribution for  $\mu$  directly. They are parameters of another random variable, which we introduced to utilise the Bayesian framework — namely  $\eta$ . The connection between  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  is known and given by the equation (4.1). Hence, if we assume  $\mu$  to be around certain value, then, using this relationship, we can deduce the value of  $\eta$ . And since the prior distribution of  $\eta$  is normal, with mean  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  and variance  $\sigma_0^{\eta} = \frac{1}{\tau_0^{\eta}}$ , we can propose the value of the mean of this distribution to be whatever  $\eta$  is for the supposed value of  $\mu$ . Selecting a value for  $\sigma_0^{\eta}$  (and thus —  $\tau_0^{\eta}$ ) is even more equivocal — it should reflect the level of confidence that we have for picking a mean parameter. That is, if we feel that value we chose for  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  would bring us close to the true  $\mu$ , we should put a smaller value for  $\sigma_0^{\eta}$ . However, if we are not so sure about it, bigger value of  $\sigma_0^{\eta}$  should be used. Similar analysis can be repeated for picking the values of other metaparameters. We need to be aware that prior which is used will always in some way influence the final estimate of a given parameter. More detailed analysis on this topic is given in section 4.3.2.

Another problem which emerges when applying Bayesian inference (especially for more complex models) is that estimating one parameter often requires knowing a value of some of the others and vice-versa. Hence — there is not an obvious way of how to start the whole procedure. One way to address this problem is to come up with the initial guesses for the values of all the parameters (as described in the paragraph above) and use them in the first round of samplings. A well designed MCMC estimation algorithm should bring us closer to the true values of parameters with each new round of samplings. In Algorithms 1 and 2 our procedure for the Heston model without and with jumps is shown, respectively.

#### Algorithm 1 Estimation of the Heston model

#### **Require:**

number of samples: ntime step  $\Delta t$ maturity Tprices  $S(k\Delta t)$  for  $k \in \{0, 1, \ldots, n\}$ , so that  $n\Delta t = T$ number of particles Ginitial value of  $\mu$ :  $\mu_0$ initial value of  $\kappa$ :  $\kappa_0$ initial value of  $\kappa$ :  $\kappa_0$ initial value of  $\theta$ :  $\theta_0$ initial value of  $\theta$ :  $\theta_0$ prior distribution parameters for  $\eta$ :  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  and  $\tau_0^{\eta}$ prior distribution parameters for  $\beta$ :  $\mu_0^{\beta}$  and  $\Lambda_0^{\beta}$ prior distribution parameters for  $\varphi^2$ :  $a_0^{\sigma}$  and  $b_0^{\sigma}$ prior distribution parameters for  $\psi$ :  $\mu_0^{\psi}$  and  $\tau_0^{\psi}$ 

#### **Ensure:**

estimate of parameter  $\mu$ :  $\hat{\mu}$ estimate of parameter  $\kappa$ :  $\hat{\kappa}$ estimate of parameter  $\theta$ :  $\hat{\theta}$ estimate of parameter  $\sigma$ :  $\hat{\sigma}$ estimate of parameter  $\rho$ :  $\hat{\rho}$ estimate of the volatility process: v(t)

```
for k = 1 \rightarrow n do

set R(k\Delta t) as shown in eq.(4.2)

end for

for i = 0 \rightarrow n_s do

for k = 1 \rightarrow n - 1 do

particle filtering procedure

for j = 1 \rightarrow G do

ptatin V_j(k\Delta t) as shown in eq. (4.51) – (4.66)

end for

ptatin v(k\Delta t) as shown in eq. (4.67)

end for

ptatin \mu_i as shown in eq. (4.3) – (4.12)
```

obtain  $\kappa_i$ ,  $\theta_i$  and  $\sigma_i$  as shown in eq. (4.15) – (4.33) obtain  $\rho_i$  as shown in eq. (4.35) – (4.50) end for set  $\hat{\mu} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \mu_i$ set  $\hat{\kappa} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \kappa_i$ set  $\hat{\theta} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \theta_i$ set  $\hat{\sigma} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \sigma_i$ set  $\hat{\rho} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \rho_i$ 

#### 4. ESTIMATION SCHEME

Algorithm 2 Estimation of the Heston model with jumps

#### **Require:**

number of samples: ntime step  $\Delta t$ maturity Tprices  $S(k\Delta t)$  for  $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$ , so that  $n\Delta t = T$ number of particles G initial value of  $\mu$ :  $\mu_0$ initial value of  $\kappa$ :  $\kappa_0$ initial value of  $\theta$ :  $\theta_0$ initial value of  $\sigma$ :  $\sigma_0$ initial value of  $\rho$ :  $\rho_0$ prior distribution parameters for  $\eta$ :  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  and  $\tau_0^{\eta}$ prior distribution parameters for  $\beta$ :  $\mu_0^{\beta}$  and  $\Lambda_0^{\beta}$ prior distribution parameters for  $\sigma^2$ :  $a_0^{\sigma}$  and  $b_0^{\sigma}$ prior distribution parameters for  $\psi$ :  $\mu_0^{\psi}$  and  $\tau_0^{\psi}$ prior distribution parameters for  $\omega$ :  $a_0^{\omega}$  and  $b_0^{\omega}$ ratio of particle indicating jumps:  $\lambda^{th}$ prior distribution parameters for Z:  $\mu_0^J$  and  $\sigma_0^J$ **Ensure:** estimate of parameter  $\mu$ :  $\hat{\mu}$ estimate of parameter  $\kappa$ :  $\hat{\kappa}$ estimate of parameter  $\theta$ :  $\hat{\theta}$ estimate of parameter  $\sigma$ :  $\hat{\sigma}$ estimate of parameter  $\rho$ :  $\hat{\rho}$ estimate of the volatility process: v(t)for  $k = 1 \rightarrow n$  do set  $R(k\Delta t)$  as shown in eq.(4.2) end for for  $i = 0 \rightarrow n_s$  do for  $k = 1 \rightarrow n$  do  $\triangleright$  particle filtering procedure for  $j = 1 \rightarrow G$  do generate  $J_i(k\Delta t)$  as shown in eq. (4.68) generate  $\tilde{Z}_i(k\Delta t)$  as shown in eq. (4.69) obtain  $V_i((k-1)\Delta t)$  as shown in eq. (4.52) – (4.66) and (4.70) end for obtain  $v(k\Delta t)$  as shown in eq. (4.67)

obtain  $Z(k\Delta t)$  and  $\lambda(k\Delta t)$  as shown in eq. (4.71) – (4.72) and (4.74) end for for  $k = 1 \rightarrow n$  do update  $R(k\Delta t)$  as shown in eq.(4.77) end for obtain  $\mu_i$  as shown in eq. (4.3) – (4.12) obtain  $\kappa_i$ ,  $\theta_i$  and  $\sigma_i$  as shown in eq. (4.15) – (4.33) obtain  $\rho_i$  as shown in eq. (4.35) – (4.50) obtain  $\lambda_i$  as shown in eq. (4.73) obtain  $\mu_i^J$  as shown in eq. (4.75) obtain  $\sigma_i^J$  as shown in eq. (4.76) end for set  $\hat{\mu} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \mu_i$ set  $\hat{\kappa} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \mu_i$ set  $\hat{\sigma} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \rho_i$ set  $\hat{\rho} = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \lambda_i$ set  $\hat{\mu}^J = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \lambda_i$ set  $\hat{\mu}^J = \frac{1}{n_s} \sum_{i=1}^{n_s} \lambda_i$ 

## 4.3 Analysis of the estimation results

#### 4.3.1 Exemplary estimation

We present here an exemplary estimation of the Heston model with jumps, to show the outcomes of the entire procedure. We assumed relatively non-informative prior distributions, with expected values shifted from the true parameters to make the task more challenging for the algorithm and to better reflect the real-life situation in which the used priors are most of the time not matching true parameters exactly, but should be rather close to them. Table 4.1 lists all the values of priors which we used. Table 4.2 summarises the results obtained and Fig. 4.3 elaborates on those results by showing empirical distributions of samples for all parameters of the model.

Analysing estimate samples for each of the parameters (presented in Fig. 4.3) one can observe that for most of them (Figs. 4.3a–4.3e and 4.3h) the true value of the parameter is within the support of the distribution of all samples. However, in case of two parameters —  $\lambda$  and  $\mu^{J}$  (Figs. 4.3f and 4.3g respectively) — the scope of samples generated by the estimation procedure seems not even to include the parameter's true value. This is due to the fact that those parameters are related to intensity and size of jumps and for the simulation parameters which we picked jumps do not happen frequently (same as in case of real-life price falls). Hence, despite the procedure correctly identifies the moments of jumps and estimates their sizes. those estimates are relatively far from the true values simply because there was very little source material for the estimation in the first place. To be precise — the stock price simulated for our exemplary estimation experienced four jumps, and times of those jumps have been easily identified by our procedure with almost 100% certainty. Thus, since the length of time of the price observation (in years) was T = 3, the most probable value of the jump intensity  $\lambda$  was around  $\frac{4}{3}$  (compare to the actual result in Table 4.2), although, obviously, other values of  $\lambda$  (slightly smaller or bigger) could have also lead to four jumps and this is exactly what happened in our case, as our true intensity was  $\lambda = 1$  (again, see Table 4.2). Similarly, in case of  $\mu^{J}$ , the reason for the estimated average jump to be bigger (in terms of magnitude) than the actual one was that the four jumps which were simulated all happened to be more severe than the true value of  $\mu^{J}$  would suggest (by pure chance) and this pushed the procedure towards overestimating the (absolute) size of the jump.



Figure 4.3: Empirical PDFs made of exemplary Heston parameter estimates.



Figure 4.3: (continued from the previous page) Empirical PDFs made of exemplary Heston parameter estimates.

Prior parameter	Value
$\mu_0^\eta$	1.00125
$\sigma_0^\eta$	0.001
$\Lambda_0$	10 0
	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 5 \end{bmatrix}$
$oldsymbol{\mu}_0$	$35 \cdot 10^{-6}$
	0.988
$a_0^{\sigma}$	149
$b_0^{\sigma}$	0.025
$\mu_0^\psi$	-0.45
$\sigma_0^\psi$	0.3
$a_0^\omega$	1.03
$b_0^\omega$	0.05
$\lambda^{th}$	0.15
$\mu_0^J$	-0.96
$\sigma_0^J$	0.3

Table 4.1: Priors for the exemplary estimation procedure

Parameter	True value	Estimated value	Relative Error [%]
$\mu$	0.1	0.09829	1.77
$\kappa$	1	1.2190	21.90
$\theta$	0.05	0.0493	1.92
σ	0.01	0.0108	8.55
ρ	-0.5	0.4379	12.40
$\lambda$	1	1.3349	33.49
$\mu^J$	-0.8	-0.9651	20.64
$\sigma^J$	0.2	0.2298	14.88

Table 4.2: Results of the exemplary estimation procedure.

#### 4.3.2 Important findings

Although estimation through the joint forces of Bayesian inference, Monte Carlo Markov Chains and particle filtering is generally considered very effective [34], there are several areas the user needs to be aware of while using this estimation scheme. One of the issues worth considering is the impact of the prior parameters. Bayesian estimator of any kind needs to be fed with parameters of the prior distribution which should reflect our preexisting beliefs of what the value of the actual estimated parameter could be. The amount of information conveyed by a prior can be different, depending on several factors. One of them are the values of the parameters of the prior distribution itself. Consider  $\mu_0^{\eta}$  and  $\sigma_0^{\eta}$ , mentioned already in the previous section. They are the prior parameters for  $\eta$  — the predecessor for the  $\mu$  estimates. The bigger  $\sigma_0^{\eta}$  we take, the more volatile the estimates of  $\eta$  — and hence  $\mu$  — are going to be. This is a pretty intuitive fact, being a direct consequence of the Bayesian approach itself. A more subtle influence of priors is hidden in the alternation between the MCMC sampling and particle filtering procedures.

As mentioned in the previous section MCMC and particle filtering depend on one another. As can be seen in the Algorithms 1 and 2, we have taken the approach that the particle filtering procedure should be done first and singular parameters which it needs in the first iteration should be the expected values of the prior distributions which we assume. Having volatility estimated that way, we can estimate the parameters, then based on them re-estimate the volatility process and so on. Although we can keep alternating that way as many times as we want, till the planned end of the estimation procedure, one might be tempted to perform the particle filtering procedure fewer times, as it is much more computationally expensive than the MCMC draws. The premise for that would be that after several trials, the volatility estimate becomes "good enough" and from that point onward, one can only generate more MCMC samples. A critical observation that we have made is that the quality of the initial volatility estimates depends very highly on the prior parameters which were used to initiate it. With little number of particle filtering procedures followed by multiple MCMC draws, the entire scheme does not have enough time to properly calibrate and results tend to stick to the priors which have been used. That means for a prior leading exactly to the true value of the parameter — the estimator returns almost error-less results, however, if one uses a prior leading to value of the true parameter, e.g. 20% bigger than it really is — the estimate will probably be off by roughly 20%, which does not make the estimator very useful. A counter-proposal can then be made, to perform particle filtering as long as possible. This however, is not an ideal solution either. Firstly, as we said, it is very computationally expensive, and

secondly — a very long chain of samples increases the probability that the estimation procedure would at some point return an outlier, i.e. an estimate really far away from the true value of the parameter, which is especially likely if we use meta-parameters responsible for such parameter's variance (like e.g.  $\sigma_0^{\eta}$  for  $\eta$ ) bigger. Appearance of such outliers is especially unfavourable in case of the MCMC methods, since its nature is that each sample is directly dependent on the previous one, so the whole procedure is likely to stay in the given region of the parameter space for a some number of subsequent simulations, thus impacting the final estimate of the parameter (which is the mean of all observed samples). Therefore, a clear trade-off appears. If one believes strongly that the prior is rather correct and only needs some minor correction to adjust it to the particular data-set — a modest number of particle filtering can be applied<sup>4</sup>, followed by an arbitrary number of MCMC draws. If however we do not know much about our data-set and do not want to convey too much information through the prior — even at the cost of a bit worse final results — they should run particle filtering bigger number of times. The visual interpretation of this rule has been presented in Figs.4.4 and 4.5.



Figure 4.4: Empirical distributions of the estimate samples for parameter  $\theta$  in case when the mean of the prior distribution matches exactly the true parameter and when it is twice bigger. Distributions in figure 4.4a was based on 10 sampling cycles, and the one in figure 4.4b — 500 cycles. One can observe that in the first case the distribution with spot-on prior gives very good results, much better then the shifted one. In the second figure, both distributions are comparable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>For applications in finance, this task is sometimes easier than for some other fields of science, as numerous works have been published already, presenting the results of the estimates of well-known stocks or market indices within various models — see e.g. Ref [61]



Figure 4.5: Sequences of estimate samples for a procedure in which particle filtering was done only for the first 5% samplings and another one, in which particle filtering was done for all the samplings. In both cases the mean of the prior distribution was shifted by 100% compared to its true value. It can be observed that the samples of the first procedure get stuck around the value close to the one dictated by the prior, whereas samples of the other procedure converge to the true value of the parameter, which leads to the better final result, less dependent on the prior parameters.

Another factor which should be taken into consideration is that the quality of results depends highly on the very parameters we try to estimate. The  $\sigma$  parameter seems to play a critical role for the Heston model in particular. This can be observed in Fig. 4.6. To produce it, an identical estimation procedure has been performed for two sample paths (which we can think of as of two different stocks). They have been simulated with the very same parameters, besides  $\sigma$ . Path no. 1 has been simulated with  $\sigma = 0.01$  and path no. 2 with  $\sigma = 0.1$ , i.a. ten times bigger. The histograms present the distribution of the estimated values of the  $\kappa$  parameter, true  $\kappa$  was  $\kappa = 1$  and the red vertical line illustrates this true value. It is clearly visible, that for the value of  $\sigma = 0.01$  the samples were much more concentrated around the true value, while for a bigger value  $\sigma = 0.1$  — they are more dispersed and the variance of the distribution is significantly bigger. This incommodity cannot be easily resolved, as

the true values of parameters of the trajectories are idiosyncratic — they cannot be influenced by the estimation procedure itself. However, we wanted to highlight the fact that the bigger the value of  $\sigma$ , the less trustworthy the results of the estimation of the other parameters might be.



Figure 4.6: Empirical distributions of the estimate samples for the  $\kappa$  parameter of two different trajectories of the Heston model - one with  $\sigma = 0.01$  and the other for  $\sigma = 0.1$ . The distribution of the estimate samples of the trajectory with smaller value of  $\sigma$  is narrower and more concentrated, hence — is likely to give less variable final estimates.

# 5 Real-life data application

# 5.1 Using synthetic results for investment decisions

In Chapter 3 we have presented a number of numerical experiments unravelling various characteristics of portfolio management strategies and dependencies between them. All results were obtained using trajectories simulated from the Heston model and have been synthesised in Monte-Carlo experiments. Results of certain experiments were often differing from one another depending on the simulation parameters which were used. Critically, in section 3.6.4 we demonstrated that depending on the character of the asset, encoded in the simulation parameteres of the price trajectory, some portfolio management strategies perform better than others. That could theoretically be an indication of the fact that it is possible for an investor to analyse assets they plan to invest in and then, based on the obtained results, choose an optimal portfolio management strategy. What we mean here by "analysing" the asset is actually performing the estimation process of the price trajectory (as explained in Chapter 4) and checking what set of parameters of the Heston model best reflects the actual dynamics of this particular investment. Then, the obtained estimation results can be used to identify the corresponding numerical findings, which in turn could be helpful in making the actual investment strategy selection. In this chapter we demonstrate that the decision-making process described above can indeed be performed and investments made that way lead to significant increase of profits compared to investing against the premises resulting from our analysis. The entire content of this chapter is also an adaptation of one of our research articles — namely our most recent paper [36].

## 5.2 Real-data experiment

We decided to estimate the parameter values of the Heston model with jumps for three well-known market indices — American S&P500, German DAX and Polish WIG20. We took into consideration the daily closing values of each of the indices, over the time period between the beginning of 2018 and the middle of 2022. The values of all three of the indices have been presented in Fig. 5.1.





Before we analyse the estimation results, let us quickly recall that experiments in Chapter 3 revealed there are three major parameters responsible for performance of assets under all portfolio management strategies — the drift  $\mu$ , the jump intensity  $\lambda$ and the average jump size  $\mu^{J}$ . When it comes to the general growth potential, it can be noticed quite easily, just by looking at Fig. 5.1, that the American index features the strongest drive upwards, while WIG20 values increase the most slowly among all three indices. However, the intensity and average size of jumps cannot really be assessed as easily just by looking at the graph.

In Table 5.1, the results of the parameter estimation for all three of the indices are presented. While the drift parameter  $\mu$  turns out to indeed have the greatest value for S&P500, this index also has the biggest intensity of jumps  $\lambda$ . Since the average size of a jump is similar for all three indices, the question of what strategy should be used boils down to what are the values of  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$ . Hence, we can use the heat-map in Fig. 3.18 as a reference for choosing proper portfolio management strategies for investing in our indices. Based on the values estimated for S&P500, this index can be positioned close to the bright area of the heat map, indicating that active strategies would be more suitable for it. On the other hand, the WIG20 index would be located in the darker area of the map which suggests the choice of the passive strategy. The exact numerical values of the ASPI measure (see Definition 32) were presented in Table 5.2. One can see that indeed, the ASPI score for WIG20 is below 0.5 (and hence — closer to zero), while fo S&P500 it is above 0.5 (and thus — closer to one). It should be noted however that the differences in the average ASPI value for the analysed indices are relatively small. Bigger differences are expected to occur between instruments with high tendency to grow combined with very infrequent jumps in prices and the ones with little growth potential and frequent jumps. However, finding such instruments in the real financial markets is rather unlikely, as the big growth potential of an instrument is often related to more significant price jumps. But, as we can see from the results of the experiments presented below, even those small differences in the value of ASPI allow us to apply choose a proper investment strategy for a given asset.
Parameter	S&P500	DAX	WIG20
$\mu$	0.44	0.30	0.19
$\kappa$	1.17	0.93	0.95
heta	0.06	0.06	0.06
$\sigma$	0.006	0.005	0.006
ho	-0.41	-0.48	-0.40
$\lambda$	8.45	6.45	4.81
$\mu^J$	-0.05	-0.05	-0.05
$\sigma^J$	0.001	0.001	0.001

Table 5.1: Estimation results for selected three stock market indices, under the assumption they follow the Heston model with Merton-style jumps (see Chapter 4 for the details of the estimation procedure).

In our experiment, we applied all three strategies to all three of our indices. The results are presented in Table 5.3 and they seem to confirm our findings. The MACD and RSI strategies indeed perform better than the passive portfolio when the asset has bigger growth potential, like in the case of S&P500. It is also true that for assets performing worse — like WIG20 — passive strategies allow if not to earn money, then to lose less than the active ones.

Parameter	S&P500	DAX	WIG20
ASPI score	0.68	0.43	0.36

Table 5.2: ASPI score for selected three stock market indices, based on the estimation of parameters  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$ , as presented in Table 5.1.

Strategy	S&P500	DAX	WIG20
passive	9.48%	0.63%	-5.8%
MACD-driven	36.32%	0.79%	-12.51%
RSI-driven	32.66%	3.00%	-27.30%

Table 5.3: Returns on investment obtained by executing portfolio management strategies based on investing in one of three selected stock market indices. For the index with the weakest growth potential (WIG20) the passive strategy was the best, allowing to minimise the incurred loss. Investment in the index with the biggest growth potential (S&P500) earned more when active strategies (MACD- and RSI-driven) were utilised.

## 6 Conclusions

## 6.1 Summary of the work

This dissertation is a comprehensive analysis of investment portfolio management strategies in discrete time context. It contains numerous results obtained by mathematical simulations under the Heston market model, which have been supported by real-data evidence. We made a lot of effort so our results are both mathematically precise and unambiguous, but also expressed and in a straightforward way and possible to be reproduced.

We believe that the work contained in this dissertation can be utilised by a relatively wide audience. The theoretical framework, outlined in Chapter 2, provides a mathematically rigorous way of working with portfolio management strategies. It can be thought of as a foundation — a system of related concepts providing a common-ground for studying portfolio management strategies. This common-ground presents a natural environment for scientists and — in general — people who are interested in modelling portfolio management strategies to describe how they create them and study their properties. Ourselves, not only did we prove some features of portfolio management strategies, which were already known, but we also created ones of our own and successfully demonstrated some of their properties (like e.g. self-financing) too.

Chapter 3 can also provide significant value, especially for those who try to execute portfolio management strategies in practice, on the market. Thanks to the fact that we used simulated assets of various character, we were able to get the results that are general and can be treated as an "average" behaviour for a wide range of real-life assets. Those results can be used to better understand the evolution of financial portfolios in general, in various market conditions and circumstances under which they were examined (e.g. presence of trading fees), the assets' intrinsic properties encoded in the parameters of the model which we selected for simulating the data (e.g. growth potential — the 'drift') or the parameters of the investment strategy (e.g. amount of portfolio cash).

In order to use the general results from Chapter 3, one needs to know the character of assets he is working with. Chapter 4 makes it possible by introducing the estimation procedure of the Heston model to real assets. Estimating the model using the real data allows for localising our actual investment reality in an appropriate region of the outcomes that the general, simulated solutions had given us. Using the estimation procedure one is able to know what kind of assets they are really working with and hence — to be better prepared for what kind of performance they can expect from them in certain investment scenarios.

Chapter 5, demonstrates that it is possible (within known limitations) to apply the knowledge obtained by means of simulations to the real data and get similar outcomes. It is an empirical evidence of the practical applicability of tools and methods provided in the earlier parts of the work and hence, constitutes a natural way to sum up all the considerations in this dissertation.

## 6.2 Future research

Results presented in this work open a plethora of ways in which the research in the area of managing investment portfolio can be continued. In the first part of Chapter 2 we formulated a foundation for a mathematical framework that we think is general enough to encapsulate formal description of a wide variety of different portfolio management strategies. In the experiments presented in Chapter 3 we mainly focused on management strategies related to portfolio rebalancing and the ones using trading indicators from technical analysis like MACD or RSI, but there is an abundance of other factors and markers which can be included in the buy-sell decisions investors make. New portfolio management strategies could e.g. be dependent on the current situation of the company, in stocks of which one wants to invest. Those conditions can be quantitatively captured by indicators which are studied via a branch competitive to technical analysis, called *fundamental analysis* [62]. Examples of such indicators are price-to-book ratio (also called P/B ratio) [62] or price-to-earnings ratio (also called  $P/E \ ratio$  [63] which measure the ratio of the stock price to the company's market capitalisation and earnings per share, respectively. New management strategies could also make use of the newest algorithmic and computational methods, which are based on genetic algorithms, machine learning or big data analysis, as most of those methods perform especially well when they have access to large volumes of data [64, 65], which is, in most cases, very easily available in the field of finance [66]. It is also known now that despite most economical models assume members of any market act rationally, humans do not always do that. Hence — an additional aspect of behavioural finance can be taken into account. It could be incorporated into any other model of a well-defined portfolio management strategy e.g. as an additional disturbance in the transactions performed by the investors, dependent, for instance, on the current general market trends (in a "behaviourised" strategy one would sell less assets after a sell signal compared to the base strategy if the market seemed to be in an upward tendency because selling at that point is counter-intuitive from a human point of view). Another aspect of researching portfolio management strategies, besides just how they work is how their performance should be measured. We mostly used measures based on the logarithmic growth of portfolio wealth but other measures can be introduced, according to which the results of comparing strategies could be totally different. Besides the sheer performance, measures of other aspects of portfolio dynamics should probably be considered too, one of the most important of such aspects being the risk. An investment strategy might be very profitable in a long term but might also lead to frequent and volatile changes in portfolio value which can be seen as a significant disadvantage for some risk-averse investors.

Another area of this work which provides a multitude of possible directions for the future research is estimation of the models used in financial mathematics. In Chapter 4 we presented a full estimation framework for Heston model, along with the analysis of the estimation process and pointing out possible difficulties and aspects in which the MCMC sampling algorithm performs better and worse. It is however of the utmost importance to continue the research of the applications of Bayesian methods in finance, as they seem to give solutions to the problems which were not possible to be solved otherwise, especially in the field of financial models' parameter estimation. While it is critical to develop new estimation methods and introduce further optimisations, making all of the procedures simpler and faster, it is also critical to study the existing methods, their accuracy and applicability.

Finally, the content of Chapter 5 also leaves some unanswered questions. It would be interesting to study if there are any indicators of the applicability of certain investment strategies other than the parameters of the Heston model. Possibly those new indicators could be simpler to obtain than trough the stochastic model estimation process, which, as we already mentioned, is often a challenge both from the perspective of mathematical complexity and computational performance. The reason behind studying investment portfolios is getting better understanding of the way financial markets behave and using their dynamics to our advantage. Making investment decisions is a notoriously challenging topic, so it is crucial to develop proper tools and conduct useful analyses in order to make this process easier but at the same time still backed by legitimate scientific research.

## Bibliography

- Harry Markowitz. Portfolio Selection. The Journal of Finance, 7(1):77–91, 1952. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1952.tb01525.x.
- [2] William F. Sharpe. A Simplified Model for Portfolio Analysis. Management Science, 9(2):277–293, January 1963. Publisher: INFORMS.
- [3] Robert C. Merton. An Analytic Derivation of the Efficient Portfolio Frontier. Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 7(4):1851–1872, September 1972. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- [4] G. A. Pogue. An Extension of the Markowitz Portfolio Selection Model to Include Variable Transactions' Costs, Short Sales, Leverage Policies and Taxes. *The Journal of Finance*, 25(5):1005–1027, 1970. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1970.tb00865.x.
- [5] Fischer Black and Robert Litterman. Global Portfolio Optimization. Financial Analysts Journal, 48(5):28–43, 1992. Publisher: CFA Institute.
- [6] Brian M. Rom and Kathleen W. Ferguson. Post-Modern Portfolio Theory Comes of Age. *The Journal of Investing*, 2(4):27–33, November 1993. Publisher: Institutional Investor Journals Umbrella Section: Primary Article.
- [7] M. Woodside-Oriakhi, C. Lucas, and J. E. Beasley. Portfolio rebalancing with an investment horizon and transaction costs. *Omega*, 41(2):406–420, 2013. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [8] Garima Mittal and Mukesh Kumar Mehlawat. A multiobjective portfolio rebalancing model incorporating transaction costs based on incremental discounts. *Optimization*, 63(10):1595–1613, October 2014. Publisher: Taylor & Francis https://doi.org/10.1080/02331934.2014.891032.

- [9] Hideo Tanaka, Peijun Guo, and I. Burhan Türksen. Portfolio selection based on fuzzy probabilities and possibility distributions. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 111(3):387–397, May 2000.
- [10] Christer Carlsson, Robert Fullér, and Péter Majlender. A possibilistic approach to selecting portfolios with highest utility score. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 131(1):13– 21, October 2002.
- [11] Yong Fang, K. K. Lai, and Shou-Yang Wang. Portfolio rebalancing model with transaction costs based on fuzzy decision theory. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 175(2):879–893, December 2006.
- [12] J. B. Heaton, N. G. Polson, and J. H. Witte. Deep Portfolio Theory, January 2018. arXiv:1605.07230.
- [13] J. B. Heaton, N. G. Polson, and J. H. Witte. Deep Learning in Finance, January 2018. arXiv:1602.06561.
- [14] S. M. Bartram, J. Branke, G. D. Rossi, and M. Motahari. Machine Learning for Active Portfolio Management. *The Journal of Financial Data Science*, 3(3):9–30, July 2021. Number: 3 Publisher: Pageant Media US.
- [15] Emmanuel Jurczenko, editor. Machine Learning for Asset Management: New Developments and Financial Applications | Wiley. Wiley, 2020.
- [16] Derek Snow. Machine Learning in Asset Management—Part 1: Portfolio Construction—Trading Strategies. *The Journal of Financial Data Science*, 2(1):10–23, January 2020. Publisher: Institutional Investor Journals Umbrella.
- [17] Derek Snow. Machine Learning in Asset Management—Part 2: Portfolio Construction—Weight Optimization. The Journal of Financial Data Science, 2(2):17– 24, April 2020. Publisher: Institutional Investor Journals Umbrella.
- [18] Paul Samuelson. Lifetime Portfolio Selection by Dynamic Stochastic Programming. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 51(3):239–46, 1969. Publisher: MIT Press.
- [19] Robert C. Merton. Lifetime Portfolio Selection under Uncertainty: The Continuous-Time Case. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 51(3):247– 257, 1969. Publisher: The MIT Press.

- [20] Robert C Merton. Optimum consumption and portfolio rules in a continuous-time model. Journal of Economic Theory, 3(4):373–413, December 1971.
- [21] Andrew J. Morton and Stanley R. Pliska. Optimal Portfolio Management with Fixed Transaction Costs. *Mathematical Finance*, 5(4):337–356, 1995. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1467-9965.1995.tb00071.x.
- [22] Colin Atkinson, Stanley R. Pliska, and Paul Wilmott. Portfolio management with transaction costs. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 453(1958):551–562, March 1997. Publisher: Royal Society.
- [23] Jakša Cvitanić and Ioannis Karatzas. Hedging and Portfolio Optimization Under Transaction Costs: A Martingale Approach. *Mathematical Finance*, 6(2):133–165, 1996. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1467-9965.1996.tb00075.x.
- L. А New of [24] J. Kelly. Interpretation Information Rate. Bell System TechnicalJournal, 35(4):917-926,1956.https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/j.1538-7305.1956.tb03809.x.
- [25] Paul A. Samuelson. The "Fallacy" of Maximizing the Geometric Mean in Long Sequences of Investing or Gambling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 68(10):2493–2496, October 1971. Publisher: National Academy of Sciences Section: Physical Sciences: Applied Mathematics.
- [26] Morten Mosegaard Christensen. On the History of the Growth-Optimal Portfolio. In Machine Learning for Financial Engineering, volume Volume 8 of Advances in Computer Science and Engineering: Texts, pages 1–79. IMPERIAL COLLEGE PRESS, November 2011.
- [27] Paolo Laureti, Matúš Medo, and Yi-Cheng Zhang. Analysis of Kelly-optimal portfolios. *Quantitative Finance*, 10(7):689–697, August 2010. Publisher: Routledge https://doi.org/10.1080/14697680902991619.
- [28] Riccardo Cesari and David Cremonini. Benchmarking, portfolio insurance and technical analysis: a Monte Carlo comparison of dynamic strategies of asset allocation. Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, 27(6):987–1011, April 2003.

- [29] Ofer Alper, Anelia Somekh-Baruch, Oz Pirvandy, Malka Schaps, and Gur Yaari. Effects of correlations and fees in random multiplicative environments: Implications for portfolio management. *Physical Review E*, 96(2):022305, August 2017. Publisher: American Physical Society.
- [30] Jarosław Gruszka and Janusz Szwabiński. Best portfolio management strategies for synthetic and real assets. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 539:122938, February 2020.
- [31] Steven Heston. A Closed-Form Solution for Options with Stochastic Volatility with Applications to Bond and Currency Options. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 6(2):327–343, 1993.
- [32] Jarosław Gruszka and Janusz Szwabiński. Advanced strategies of portfolio management in the Heston market model. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 574:125978, July 2021.
- [33] D. V. Lindley and A. F. M. Smith. Bayes Estimates for the Linear Model. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological), 34(1):1–18, 1972. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1972.tb00885.x.
- [34] Michael Johannes and Nicholas Polson. CHAPTER 13 MCMC Methods for Continuous-Time Financial Econometrics. In YACINE Aït-sahalia and LARS PETER Hansen, editors, *Handbook of Financial Econometrics: Applications*, volume 2 of *Handbooks in Finance*, pages 1–72. Elsevier, San Diego, January 2010.
- [35] Jarosław Gruszka and Janusz Szwabiński. Parameter Estimation of the Heston Volatility Model with Jumps in the Asset Prices, November 2022. arXiv:2211.14814.
- [36] Jarosław Gruszka and Janusz Szwabiński. Portfolio Optimisation via the Heston Model Calibrated to Real Asset Data, February 2023. arXiv:2302.01816 [q-fin].
- [37] Rodolfo Toríbio Farias Nazário, Jéssica Lima e Silva, Vinicius Amorim Sobreiro, and Herbert Kimura. A literature review of technical analysis on stock markets. *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 66:115–126, November 2017.
- [38] Gerald Appel. Technical Analysis: Power Tools for Active Investors. Financial Times/Prentice Hall, 2005.

- [39] J. Welles Wilder. New Concepts in Technical Trading Systems. Trend Research, 1978.
- [40] Relative Strength Index (RSI) Indicator Explained With Formula. Investopedia, https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/rsi.asp.
- [41] Nils H. Hakansson and William T. Ziemba. Chapter 3 Capital growth theory. In Handbooks in Operations Research and Management Science, volume 9 of Finance, pages 65–86. Elsevier, January 1995.
- [42] Paul Glasserman. Monte Carlo Methods in Financial Engineering, volume 53 of Stochastic Modelling and Applied Probability. Springer, New York, NY, 2003.
- [43] John C. Hull. Options, Futures, and Other Derivatives. Pearson, University of Toronto, 10th edition edition, 2018.
- [44] Andrey G. Cherstvy, Deepak Vinod, Erez Aghion, Aleksei V. Chechkin, and Ralf Metzler. Time averaging, ageing and delay analysis of financial time series. *New Journal of Physics*, 19(6):063045, June 2017. Publisher: IOP Publishing.
- [45] Sha Lin and Xin-Jiang He. Pricing variance and volatility swaps with stochastic volatility, stochastic interest rate and regime switching. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 537:122714, January 2020.
- [46] Na Leng and Jiang-Cheng Li. Forecasting the crude oil prices based on Econophysics and Bayesian approach. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 554:124663, September 2020.
- [47] Peter Richmond and Lorenzo Sabatelli. Langevin processes, agent models and socio-economic systems. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 336(1):27–38, May 2004.
- [48] John C. Cox, Jonathan E. Ingersoll, and Stephen A. Ross. A Theory of the Term Structure of Interest Rates. *Econometrica*, 53(2):385–407, 1985. Publisher: [Wiley, Econometric Society].
- [49] A. Corhay and A. Tourani Rad. Statistical Properties of Daily Returns: Evidence from European Stock Markets. *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, 21(2):271–282, 1994. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1468-5957.1994.tb00318.x.

- [50] Ioannis Karatzas and Steven Shreve. Brownian Motion and Stochastic Calculus: 113. New York, 1991.
- [51] G. William Schwert. Stock Volatility during the Recent Financial Crisis. European Financial Management, 17(5):789–805, 2011. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1468-036X.2011.00620.x.
- [52] Robert C. Merton. Option pricing when underlying stock returns are discontinuous. Journal of Financial Economics, 3(1):125–144, 1976.
- [53] David S. Bates. Jumps and Stochastic Volatility: Exchange Rate Processes Implicit in Deutsche Mark Options. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 9(1):69–107, 1996. Publisher: [Oxford University Press, Society for Financial Studies].
- [54] Peter Kloeden and Eckhard Platen. Numerical Solution of Stochastic Differential Equations. Stochastic Modelling and Applied Probability. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, Heidelberg, 1 edition, 1992.
- and [55] Siddhartha Chib Edward Greenberg. Understanding the Metropolis-Hastings Algorithm. The Statistician. American 49(4):327-335,November 1995. Publisher: Taylor & Francis https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/00031305.1995.10476177.
- [56] Michael Johannes, Nicholas Polson, and Jonathan Stroud. Optimal Filtering of Jump Diffusions: Extracting Latent States from Asset Prices. *Review of Financial Studies*, 22:2559–2599, June 2009.
- [57] Arnaud Doucet and Adam Johansen. A Tutorial on Particle Filtering and Smoothing: Fifteen Years Later. *Handbook of Nonlinear Filtering*, 12, 2009.
- [58] Anthony O'Hagan and Maurice George Kendall. Kendall's Advanced Theory of Statistics: Bayesian inference. Volume 2B. Edward Arnold, 1994. Google-Books-ID: DlrEMgEACAAJ.
- [59] Eric Jacquier, Nicholas G. Polson, and Peter E. Rossi. Bayesian analysis of stochastic volatility models with fat-tails and correlated errors. *Journal of Econometrics*, 122(1):185–212, September 2004.
- [60] Peter Christoffersen, Kris Jacobs, and Karim Mimouni. Volatility Dynamics for the S&P500: Evidence from Realized Volatility, Daily Returns and Option Prices. SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 926373, Social Science Research Network, Rochester, NY, July 2007.

- [61] Bjørn Eraker, Michael Johannes, and Nicholas Polson. The Impact of Jumps in Volatility and Returns. *The Journal of Finance*, 58(3):1269–1300, 2003. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1540-6261.00566.
- [62] Benjamin Graham, David Le Fevre Dodd, Sidney Cottle, et al. Security analysis, volume 452. McGraw-Hill New York, 1934.
- [63] A. Tracy. Ratio Analysis Fundamentals: How 17 Financial Ratios Can Allow You to Analyse Any Business on the Planet. Createspace Independent Pub, 2012.
- [64] Omar Y. Al-Jarrah, Paul D. Yoo, Sami Muhaidat, George K. Karagiannidis, and Kamal Taha. Efficient machine learning for big data: A review. *Big Data Research*, 2(3):87–93, 2015. Big Data, Analytics, and High-Performance Computing.
- [65] Jafar Alzubi, Anand Nayyar, and Akshi Kumar. Machine learning from theory to algorithms: An overview. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1142(1):012012, nov 2018.
- [66] Finding Data & Statistics: Economic & Financial Data. The Library, UC San Diego, https://ucsd.libguides.com/data-statistics/economic.